
Board of Directors Meeting 
October 10, 2023 

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone, Number Three 
City of Houston  



Downtown Redevelopment Authority 
Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number Three, City of Houston 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
October 10, 2023 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
  Page 
 
Minutes of Previous Meetings 

• Downtown Redevelopment Authority – September 12, 2023 ................................................... 3 
• Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number Three – September 12, 2023 .............................. 7 

 
Financial Summary ............................................................................................................................ 11 

• Check Register – September 2023 ......................................................................................... 15 
• Financial Statements – 1Q24 .................................................................................................. 16 
• Investment Report – 1Q24 ...................................................................................................... 20 
• FY23 Audit 

o Action Item .................................................................................................................. 21 
o Draft Required Communications ................................................................................. 22 
o Draft FY23 Audit Report .............................................................................................. 34 

 
AECOM Findings on Adaptive Reuse/Office Conversion Feasibility Project ............................. 76 
 
Goal Based Updates 

• Goal 1 – Champion DT .......................................................................................................... 124 
• Goal 2 – Enhance DT ............................................................................................................ 125 
• Goal 3 – Connect DT ............................................................................................................. 126 
• Goal 4 – Thrive DT ................................................................................................................ 127 
• Goal 5 – Engage DT .............................................................................................................. 128 

 
 



 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE 

DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 

September 12, 2023 
 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Downtown Redevelopment Authority (the “Authority”) 
convened in regular session, in person and open to the public, inside the Large Conference Room at the 
Authority’s office, located at 1221 McKinney Street, Suite 4250, Houston, TX 77010, on the 12th of 
September 2023, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers and members of the Board, to wit: 
  

 Curtis Flowers  Chair  
 Michele Sabino  Vice Chair   
 Barry Mandel  Secretary  
 Keith Hamm  Treasurer  
 Regina Garcia  Director   
 James Harrison  Director  
 Sherman Lewis  Director  
 Tiko Reynolds-Hausman  Director 
 William Taylor Director  

  
and all of said persons were present except for Chair Flowers, Secretary Mandel, and Director Lewis.  Also 
present were Allen Douglas, Executive Director (“ED”); Kris Larson, President; Jana Gunter, Director of 
Finance; and staff members Brett DeBord, Jamie Perkins, Albert Sanchez, Ann Taylor and Candace 
Williams, all with the Authority; Algenita Davis and Ryan LeVessuer, consultants to the Authority; and Clark 
Lord, outside counsel to the Authority.  

 
Also in attendance were guests and presenters Cmdr. Paula Read and Lt. Jennifer Kennedy with 

HPD; Council Member Abbie Kamin with Houston City Council District C; Ginger Baldwin and Paul Lock 
with CenterPoint Energy. Andrew Busker with the City of Houston’s Office of Economic Development 
attended from the public. 

 
DETERMINE QUORUM; CALL TO ORDER 
  

Vice Chair Sabino conducted a roll call and quorum was established. The meeting was called to 
order at 12:07 PM.  
  
INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
  

Vice Chair Sabino invited meeting attendees to introduce themselves and welcomed all. Next, she 
asked if there were any comments from the public. There were no comments from the public.  
 
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Board considered approving the minutes of the June 13, 2023 regular joint board meeting. 
Hearing no questions or need for discussion; Vice Chair Sabino called for a motion, moved by Director 
Harrison, and seconded by Treasurer Hamm, and the minutes of the June 13, 2023 regular joint board 
meeting were approved as presented. 
 
FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION 
  
Personnel Announcements 

 
ED Douglas updated the Board on recent personnel changes. He began by announcing Lonnie 

Hoogeboom’s resignation, which happened over the summer. Next, he introduced Luis Nunez, who recently 
came onboard as Director of Urban Strategy & Design. Finally, he announced Cassie Hoeprich will join the 
team beginning September 18th as Director of Planning & Economic Development.  
 

3



 

Check Registers - June, July & August 2023 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked Jana Gunter to provide updates from finance and administration. Ms. 
Gunter shared highlights from the check registers for the months ending June 30, July 31 and August 31, 
2023. She then asked if there were any questions or comments. There were no questions or comments.  
 

A motion to accept the June, July and August check registers was entertained by Vice Chair Sabino; 
moved by Director Taylor, seconded by Treasurer Hamm, and check registers for the months June, July 
and August were accepted as presented.     
 
Financial Statements – 4Q / FY23 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked Jana Gunter to continue by providing updates on the 4Q / FY23 Financial 
Statements.  Ms. Gunter shared statement highlights, then asked if there were any questions or comments. 
There were no questions or comments.  
 

A motion was called by Vice Chair Sabino to accept the 4Q / FY23 Financial Statements; moved 
by Treasurer Hamm, and seconded by Director Garcia, and 4Q / FY23 Financial Statements were accepted 
as presented.      
  
Investment Report – 4Q / FY23 
 

Ms. Gunter continued providing updates from the 4Q / FY23 Investment Report. She announced 
the auditors, while conducting the annual audit, discovered $500,000 of interest income will be paid to 
Authority from the City. Questions were asked and answered, and discussion ensued over how the interest 
income would be spent. It was noted the Board has sole discretion on how the interest income will be spent.  
 

A motion was called to accept the 4Q / FY23 Investment Report; moved by Treasurer Hamm, 
seconded by Director Garcia, and the 4Q / FY23 Investment Report was accepted as presented.   
 
DBE Report – 4Q / FY23 
 

Lastly, Ms. Gunter concluded the Finance & Administration updates by providing highlights from 
the 4Q / FY23 DBE Report. Director Taylor suggested the idea of providing additional detail in the DBE 
Reports. Discussion ensued and questions were asked and answered. It was noted that going forward, 
additional details will be added to the DBE Reports.  
 

A motion was called to accept the 4Q / FY23 DBE Report; moved by Director Taylor, seconded by 
Director Garcia, and the 4Q / FY23 DBE Report was accepted as presented.     
 
MUNICIPAL SERVICE INITIATIVES 
 

ED Douglas opened discussion and invited Cmdr. Read and Lt. Kennedy to share a presentation 
about recent municipal service initiatives. Cmdr. Read and Lt. Kennedy shared details on HPD’s focus in 
the following areas have shaped the overall safety and reduction of criminal activity in downtown: (i) civility 
enforcement efforts; (ii) BMV auto thefts, notably the dismantlement of a large group targeting theft of high-
end vehicles; and (iii) the efforts to increase education and safety of electric scooter use and the reduction 
of street racing. Discussion ensued about the recent opening of the satellite security station near the 
Beacon, how success is measured with the focused initiatives discussed, and the outlook of new recruits 
joining the police force. Questions were asked and answered. No action was required.   
 
REQUEST TO OPERATE AND MAINTAIN ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked ED Douglas to continue with the next topic. He introduced the team behind  
the electric vehicle charging station project; namely Abbie Kamin, Houston City Council Member – District 
C; and CenterPoint Energy representatives Ginger Baldwin and Paul Lock. ED Douglas then invited CM 
Kamin to share a presentation. CM Kamin gave a detailed overview of the project, emphasizing the 
opportunity and need for the charging stations along Allen Parkway.  

4



 

 
Discussion ensued, questions were asked and answered. Ms. Baldwin answered questions about 

the use of solar energy to power the charging stations. CM Kamin noted District C will contribute $100,000 
toward the project.  Questions were raised on whether or not the agreement itself would be brought to the 
Board for consideration once the terms were negotiated. ED Douglas affirmed it would.  

 
 Vice Chair Sabino called for a motion; moved by Director Garcia, seconded by Director Harrison, 
and the Board approved the request authorizing staff to negotiate an agreement for further Board approval 
with a chosen vendor/supplier to operate, maintain and charge for the use of two electric vehicle charging 
stations along Allen Parkway.  
 
 
DISCUSS UPDATES WITH DOWNTOWN LAUNCHPAD 2.0 
 

Vice Chair Sabino invited ED Douglas to share an update on Downtown Launchpad 2.0. He began 
by announcing the recent grant award from the highly competitive MBDA Capital Access Program 
administered by the Department of Commerce to a collaborative group of central city focused organizations 
who applied under the umbrella name of the Socially and Economically Disadvantaged Individual 
Entrepreneurs (SEDIE) Support Stack and which will be able to utilize space in the Downtown Launchpad 
under licensee agreements for Board consideration. Next, he shared a presentation and talked about how 
receiving this grant will help shape the best use of space within the Launchpad. No questions were asked 
and discussion did not occur. No action was necessary.  
 
 
REVIEW TIRZ POLICIES RECENTLY ADOPTED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 

ED Douglas continued and referred to a summary of policies recently adopted by City Council in 
the materials previously provided. He stated the purpose behind City Council adopting these policies was 
to create a uniform set of guidelines and best practices for all 27 of the City’s TIRZ to follow. ED Douglas 
noted prior to City Council’s formal adoption, the Authority was already complying with a majority of these 
policies through the internal adoption and annual review of the Authority’s Administrative Policies & 
Procedures Manual. Questions were asked and answered. No action was required.  
 
 
REVIEW AND ADOPT UPDATED DRA/TIRZ #3 POLICIES & PROCEDURES MANUAL 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked ED Douglas to continue. He referred to the draft Administrative Policies 
& Procedures Manual in the materials previously provided. ED Douglas noted a majority of the changes in 
the redline draft were necessary in order to align with the updated Central Houston Employee Handbook.  
Questions were asked and answered, and discussion ensued.   

 
A motion was made; moved by Director Garcia and seconded by Treasurer Hamm, and the Board 

approved the revisions made in the draft Administrative Policies & Procedures Manual, and adopted the 
Manual as proposed, recognizing that the Manual comes before the Board on an annual basis for 
consideration and approval. 
 
 
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT UPDATES 
 
 President Larson provided an overview of the prior month’s progress on cross-organizational 
Strategic Initiatives.  No action was needed.  
 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
  

No further business was brought forth before the Board.  
 
 

5



 

 
NEXT MEETINGS 
  

Vice Chair Sabino announced the next Board meeting will take place on Tuesday, September 12, 
2023 at 12:00 PM. 

 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
  

There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was called to adjourn at          
1:47 PM.  
  
  

 
Barry Mandel, Secretary  
Downtown Redevelopment Authority 
(“Authority”)  

  

6



 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE 

TAX INCREMENT REINVESTMENT ZONE NUMBER THREE 
 

September 12, 2023 
 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Number Three (the 
“Zone”) convened in regular session, in person and open to the public, inside the Large Conference Room 
at the Zone’s office, located at 1221 McKinney Street, Suite 4250, Houston, TX 77010, on the 12th of 
September 2023, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers and members of the Board, to wit: 
  

 Curtis Flowers  Chair  
 Michele Sabino  Vice Chair   
 Barry Mandel  Secretary  
 Keith Hamm  Treasurer  
 Regina Garcia  Director   
 James Harrison  Director  
 Sherman Lewis  Director  
 Tiko Reynolds-Hausman  Director 
 William Taylor Director  

  
and all of said persons were present except for Chair Flowers, Secretary Mandel, and Director Lewis.  Also 
present were Allen Douglas, Executive Director (“ED”); Kris Larson, President; Jana Gunter, Director of 
Finance; and staff members Brett DeBord, Jamie Perkins, Albert Sanchez, Ann Taylor and Candace 
Williams, all with the Zone; Algenita Davis and Ryan LeVessuer, consultants to the Zone; and Clark Lord, 
outside counsel to the Zone.  

 
Also in attendance were guests and presenters Cmdr. Paula Read and Lt. Jennifer Kennedy with 

HPD; Council Member Abbie Kamin with Houston City Council District C; Ginger Baldwin and Paul Lock 
with CenterPoint Energy. Andrew Busker with the City of Houston’s Office of Economic Development 
attended from the public. 

 
DETERMINE QUORUM; CALL TO ORDER 
  

Vice Chair Sabino conducted a roll call and quorum was established. The meeting was called to 
order at 12:07 PM.  
  
INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
  

Vice Chair Sabino invited meeting attendees to introduce themselves and welcomed all. Next, she 
asked if there were any comments from the public. There were no comments from the public.  
 
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Board considered approving the minutes of the June 13, 2023 regular joint board meeting. 
Hearing no questions or need for discussion; Vice Chair Sabino called for a motion, moved by Director 
Harrison, and seconded by Treasurer Hamm, and the minutes of the June 13, 2023 regular joint board 
meeting were approved as presented. 
 
FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION 
  
Personnel Announcements 
 

ED Douglas updated the Board on recent personnel changes. He began by announcing Lonnie 
Hoogeboom’s resignation, which happened over the summer. Next, he introduced Luis Nunez, who recently 
came onboard as Director of Urban Strategy & Design. Finally, he announced Cassie Hoeprich will join the 
team beginning September 18th as Director of Planning & Economic Development.  
 

7



 

Check Registers - June, July & August 2023 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked Jana Gunter to provide updates from finance and administration. Ms. 
Gunter shared highlights from the check registers for the months ending June 30, July 31 and August 31, 
2023. She then asked if there were any questions or comments. There were no questions or comments.  
 

A motion to accept the June, July and August check registers was entertained by Vice Chair Sabino; 
moved by Director Taylor, seconded by Treasurer Hamm, and check registers for the months June, July 
and August were accepted as presented.     
 
Financial Statements – 4Q / FY23 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked Jana Gunter to continue by providing updates on the 4Q / FY23 Financial 
Statements.  Ms. Gunter shared statement highlights, then asked if there were any questions or comments. 
There were no questions or comments.  
 

A motion was called by Vice Chair Sabino to accept the 4Q / FY23 Financial Statements; moved 
by Treasurer Hamm, and seconded by Director Garcia, and 4Q / FY23 Financial Statements were accepted 
as presented.      
  
Investment Report – 4Q / FY23 
 

Ms. Gunter continued providing updates from the 4Q / FY23 Investment Report. She announced 
the auditors, while conducting the annual audit, discovered $500,000 of interest income will be paid to Zone 
from the City. Questions were asked and answered, and discussion ensued over how the interest income 
would be spent. It was noted the Board has sole discretion on how the interest income will be spent.  
 

A motion was called to accept the 4Q / FY23 Investment Report; moved by Treasurer Hamm, 
seconded by Director Garcia, and the 4Q / FY23 Investment Report was accepted as presented.   
 
DBE Report – 4Q / FY23 
 

Lastly, Ms. Gunter concluded the Finance & Administration updates by providing highlights from 
the 4Q / FY23 DBE Report. Director Taylor suggested the idea of providing additional detail in the DBE 
Reports. Discussion ensued and questions were asked and answered. It was noted that going forward, 
additional details will be added to the DBE Reports.  
 

A motion was called to accept the 4Q / FY23 DBE Report; moved by Director Taylor, seconded by 
Director Garcia, and the 4Q / FY23 DBE Report was accepted as presented.     

 
MUNICIPAL SERVICE INITIATIVES 
 

ED Douglas opened discussion and invited Cmdr. Read and Lt. Kennedy to share a presentation 
about recent municipal service initiatives. Cmdr. Read and Lt. Kennedy shared details on HPD’s focus in 
the following areas have shaped the overall safety and reduction of criminal activity in downtown: (i) civility 
enforcement efforts; (ii) BMV auto thefts, notably the dismantlement of a large group targeting theft of high-
end vehicles; and (iii) the efforts to increase education and safety of electric scooter use and the reduction 
of street racing. Discussion ensued about the recent opening of the satellite security station near the 
Beacon, how success is measured with the focused initiatives discussed, and the outlook of new recruits 
joining the police force. Questions were asked and answered. No action was required.   
 
REQUEST TO OPERATE AND MAINTAIN ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked ED Douglas to continue with the next topic. He introduced the team behind  
the electric vehicle charging station project; namely Abbie Kamin, Houston City Council Member – District 
C; and CenterPoint Energy representatives Ginger Baldwin and Paul Lock. ED Douglas then invited CM 
Kamin to share a presentation. CM Kamin gave a detailed overview of the project, emphasizing the 
opportunity and need for the charging stations along Allen Parkway.  

8



 

Discussion ensued, questions were asked and answered. Ms. Baldwin answered questions about 
the use of solar energy to power the charging stations. CM Kamin noted District C will contribute $100,000 
toward the project.  Questions were raised on whether or not the agreement itself would be brought to the 
Board for consideration once the terms were negotiated. ED Douglas affirmed it would.  

 
 Vice Chair Sabino called for a motion; moved by Director Garcia, seconded by Director Harrison, 
and the Board approved the request authorizing staff to negotiate an agreement for further Board approval 
with a chosen vendor/supplier to operate, maintain and charge for the use of two electric vehicle charging 
stations along Allen Parkway.  
 
 
DISCUSS UPDATES WITH DOWNTOWN LAUNCHPAD 2.0 
 

Vice Chair Sabino invited ED Douglas to share an update on Downtown Launchpad 2.0. He began 
by announcing the recent grant award from the highly competitive MBDA Capital Access Program 
administered by the Department of Commerce to a collaborative group of central city focused organizations 
who applied under the umbrella name of the Socially and Economically Disadvantaged Individual 
Entrepreneurs (SEDIE) Support Stack and which will be able to utilize space in the Downtown Launchpad 
under licensee agreements for Board consideration. Next, he shared a presentation and talked about how 
receiving this grant will help shape the best use of space within the Launchpad. No questions were asked 
and discussion did not occur. No action was necessary.  
 
 
REVIEW TIRZ POLICIES RECENTLY ADOPTED BY CITY COUNCIL 
 

ED Douglas continued and referred to a summary of policies recently adopted by City Council in 
the materials previously provided. He stated the purpose behind City Council adopting these policies was 
to create a uniform set of guidelines and best practices for all 27 of the City’s TIRZ to follow. ED Douglas 
noted prior to City Council’s formal adoption, the Zone was already complying with a majority of these 
policies through the internal adoption and annual review of the Zone’s Administrative Policies & Procedures 
Manual. Questions were asked and answered. No action was required.  
 
 
REVIEW AND ADOPT UPDATED DRA/TIRZ #3 POLICIES & PROCEDURES MANUAL 
 

Vice Chair Sabino asked ED Douglas to continue. He referred to the draft Administrative Policies 
& Procedures Manual in the materials previously provided. ED Douglas noted a majority of the changes in 
the redline draft were necessary in order to align with the updated Central Houston Employee Handbook.  
Questions were asked and answered, and discussion ensued.   

 
A motion was made; moved by Director Garcia and seconded by Treasurer Hamm, and the Board 

approved the revisions made in the draft Administrative Policies & Procedures Manual, and adopted the 
Manual as proposed, recognizing that the Manual comes before the Board on an annual basis for 
consideration and approval. 
 
 
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT UPDATES 
 
 President Larson provided an overview of the prior month’s progress on cross-organizational 
Strategic Initiatives.  No action was needed.  
 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
  

No further business was brought forth before the Board.  
 
 
 

9



 

NEXT MEETINGS 
  

Vice Chair Sabino announced the next Board meeting will take place on Tuesday, September 12, 
2023 at 12:00 PM. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
  

There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was called to adjourn at          
1:47 PM.  
  
  

 
Barry Mandel, Secretary  
Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone 
Number Three (“Zone”)  

 
 

10



1

Check register for September 2023 

• Total checks issued in September 2023 were $771K

– 401 Franklin Street (PostHTX)

•  Economic Development Grant - $312,179

– Central Houston, Inc.

•  Administrative Contractors - $198,641

– Structura

•  Trebly Park - $162,536

– AECOM Technical Services

•  Office Conversion Study - $42,750

11



2

Statement of Net Position, September 30, 2023 

Assets

• Cash and Investments are $25.8 million

• Other Receivables – $414K

– HDMD support for DLI - $414K

• Accounts Payable & Accrued Expense are $3.0 million.

– DLI and Economic Development Grants outstanding $2.1million

– Retainage Payable – $738K, Bagby $470K, Trebly $268K

• Bonds Payable due Aug 2024 – $2.34 million

12



3

Statement of Activities, September 30, 2023 

• Total Revenues of $8 million is $309K over budget due to 

interest income reflecting better rates than forecasted.

• Project Costs are $1 million, $2.5 million under budget 

due to forecasted DLI/Economic grant payments will not 

be paid until the tax increment is received in June, 2024.

13



4

Cash & Investments, September 30, 2023 

• Cash balance - $260,448

• Investment Funds
– Logic Increment - $19.401 million

– Morgan Stanley Investment Fund
• Debt Service - $1.011 million, interest payments are issued in September 

and March.

• Bond Reserve - $4.422 million

– Bank of New York Mellon
• Pledged Funds - $689,031

• Capital Assets, Net
– Downtown Launchpad Lease - $1.6 million

– Trebly Park Lease - $8.8 million

 

14



CHECK AMOUNT

3096 198,641.07$       

3234120 18,000.00$         

3101 2,500.00$           

319618 12,096.26$         

319640 20,000.00$         

319641 312,179.00$       

5743429 42,750.00$         

6433987 162,535.76$       

7477108 2,480.00$           

771,182.09$       

Main Lane Industries Bagby St. Construction

Bracewell General Counsel

401 Franklin Street DLI payment

AECOM Technical Services Office Repositioning

DRA/ TIRZ #3 PAID INVOICE DETAIL:  SEPT 2023

PAYEE MEMO

OPERATING ACCOUNT

Carr, Riggs & Ingram Professional Services

Central Houston, Inc Payroll 

Central Houston, Inc 2023 Annual Meeting Friends

 Ryan M LeVasseur Professional Services

Structura, Inc SoDo park

GRAND TOTAL:

15



Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022

2024 2023

YTD Balance YTD Balance

Assets

Cash  260,448$             389,629$             

Investments - Project Funds -                       -                       

Investments - Debt Service 6,122,189            5,388,172            

Investments - General 19,400,643          18,090,608          

Tax Increments Receivable 6,280,919            6,081,551            

Other Receivables & Prepaid Expenses 415,142               280,478               

Capital Assets, Net 10,442,632          11,030,789          

Cost of Issuance 349,980               380,194               

Total Assets 43,271,953$        41,641,421$        

Liabilities

Accounts Payable & Accrued Expenses 3,002,252$          2,184,808$          

Accrued Interest Payable 158,846               509,014               

Lease Liabilities Due in One Year 309,169               352,231               

Lease Liabilities Due After One Year 10,559,425          10,910,569          

Notes Payable Due in One Year -                       -                       

Bonds Payable Due in One Year 2,340,000            2,250,000            

Notes Payable Due After One Year -                       -                       

Bonds Payable Due After One Year 40,164,708          42,727,848          

Total Liabilities 56,534,400          58,934,471          

Net Position

Net Position (13,262,448)         (17,293,050)         

Total Liabilities & Net Position 43,271,953$        41,641,421$        

10/5/2023 5:28 PM Unaudited Page 1 of 4

16



Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Statement of Activities

For the First Quarter ended September 30, 2023

2024 2024 2024 Fav (Unfav)

Q1 Actual YTD Actual YTD Budget Variance

Revenues

Tax Increments 7,724,396$          7,724,396$             7,724,395$          0                          

Other Revenues -                       -                         -                       -                       

Interest Income 373,721               373,721                  65,081                 308,640               

Total Revenues 8,098,117$          8,098,117$             7,789,477$          308,640$             

Transfers

Administrative Fees 298,476               298,476                  298,476               -                       

HISD Adjustment 1,145,000            1,145,000               1,145,000            -                       

1,443,476            1,443,476               1,443,476            -                       

Net Revenues 6,654,640$          6,654,640$             6,346,000$          308,640$             

Expenses

Project Costs 1,005,463            1,005,463               3,532,208            2,526,745            

Municipal Services -                       -                         -                       -                       

Accounting -                       -                         -                       -                       

Auditing 18,000                 18,000                    10,000                 (8,000)                  

Administrative Contractor 303,476               303,476                  175,000               (128,476)              

Legal Fees 8,580                   8,580                      4,500                   (4,080)                  

Insurance 1,504                   1,504                      1,000                   (504)                     

Consulting Fees 3,230                   3,230                      25,000                 21,770                 

Office Expense 6,240                   6,240                      1,875                   (4,365)                  

Interest Expense - Bonds  426,148               426,148                  432,566               6,419                   

Cost of Issuance 7,554                   7,554                      7,554                   -                       

Total Expenses 1,780,195$          1,780,195$             4,189,703$          2,409,508$          

Change in Net Position 4,874,446            4,874,446               2,156,297            2,718,148            

Net Position Beginning of Year (18,136,893)           (18,136,893)         -                       

Net Position End of Period (13,262,448)$         (15,980,596)$       2,718,148$          

10/5/2023 5:28 PM Unaudited Page 2 of 4

17



Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Statement of Activities

For the First Quarter ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022

2024 2023 Fav (Unfav)

YTD Actual YTD Actual Variance

Revenues

Tax Increments 7,724,396$           6,835,266$           889,130                

Other Revenues -                        -                        -                        

Interest Income 373,721                127,506                246,215                

Total Revenues 8,098,117$           6,962,772$           1,135,345$           

Transfers

Administrative Fees 298,476                284,998                (13,478)                

HISD Adjustment 1,145,000             554,402                (590,599)              

1,443,476             839,400                (604,077)              

Net Revenues 6,654,640$           6,123,372$           531,268$              

Expenses

Project Costs 1,005,463             3,565,373             2,559,910             

Municipal Services -                        -                        -                        

Accounting -                        -                        -                        

Auditing 18,000                  18,000                  -                        

Administrative Contractor 303,476                82,094                  (221,382)              

Legal Fees 8,580                    1,094                    (7,486)                  

Insurance 1,504                    3,613                    2,109                    

Consulting Fees 3,230                    3,640                    410                       

Office Expense 6,240                    1,191                    (5,049)                  

Interest Expense - COH -                        -                        -                        

Interest Expense - Bonds 426,148                790,229                364,081                

Cost of Issuance 7,554                    7,554                    -                        

Total Expenses 1,780,195$           4,472,787$           2,692,592$           

Change in Net Position 4,874,446             1,650,585             3,223,861             

Net Position Beginning of Year (18,136,893)         (18,943,634)         806,741                

Net Position End of Period (13,262,448)$       (17,293,050)$       4,030,602$           

10/5/2023 5:28 PM Unaudited Page 3 of 4

18



Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Project Cost Detail

For the First Quarter ended September 30, 2023

2024 2024 Fav (Unfav)

YTD Actual YTD Budget Variance

Project Costs

Capital Improvement Projects

Main Street Market Square 2.0 15,032                 250,000               234,968               

Allen Parkway -                       -                       -                       

Southern Downtown Pocket Park 344,203               208,937               (135,266)              

Bagby Street Improvements 12,096                 -                       (12,096)                

NHHIP Civic Opportunities -                       -                       -                       

Lynn Wyatt Square For The Performing Arts -                       -                       -                       

Total Capital Improvement Projects 371,332               458,937$             87,606$               

Future Project Costs -                       250,000               250,000               

Buffalo Bayou Park -                       -                       -                       

806 Main/JW Marriott -                       46,385                 46,385                 

Hotel Alessandra -                       14,995                 14,995                 

Holiday Inn/Savoy Hotel -                       5,993                   5,993                   

723 Main/AC Hotel -                       7,039                   7,039                   

Downtown Living Initiative -                       2,500                   2,500                   PROJ COST-ECON DEVEL/RETAIL GRANT-PERSON 45,722                 -                       (45,722)                

Economic Development/Retail Program 45,722                 12,500                 (33,222)                

Texaco Building/The Star -                       71,105                 71,105                 

SkyHouse Houston -                       72,615                 72,615                 

Fairfield Block 334 2,943                   39,585                 36,642                 

Hines Market Square -                       110,140               110,140               

Market Square Tower -                       177,611               177,611               

SkyHouse Main -                       68,234                 68,234                 

Fairfield Residential -                       70,114                 70,114                 

Post HTX -                       -                       -                       

Hike & Bike Trails East of Allens Landing -                       -                       -                       

Downtown Launchpad 199,829               249,455               49,626                 

Gener8tor -                       -                       -                       

Montrose Bridge at Allen Parkway 277,475               250,000               (27,475)                

Targeted Blight Remediation 97,872                 1,250,000            1,152,128            

Pedestrian Lighting Improvements 10,291                 375,000               364,709               

Total Developer/Project Reimbursements 634,131               3,073,271            2,439,139            

Total Project Costs 1,005,463            3,532,208$          2,526,745$          

10/5/2023 5:28 PM Unaudited Page 4 of 4

19



 

INTEREST NET DEPOSITS ENDING BALANCE ENDING BALANCE ENDING BALANCE SIMPLE WT AVG

BEGINNING BAL. BEGINNING BAL. GAIN  (LOSS) EARNED / ACCRUED OR BOOK MARKET % OF INTEREST MAT. DAYS

FUND BOOK VALUE MARKET VALUE TO MARKET FILE THIS PERIOD (WITHDRAWALS) VALUE VALUE PORTFOLIO YIELD

OPERATING

      JP MORGAN CHASE OPERATING 616,130.70 616,130.70 0.00 0.00 (355,682.51) 260,448.19 260,448.19 1.01% N/A 1

      JP MORGAN CHASE BOND OPERATING 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% N/A 1

TOTAL JPM 616,130.70 616,130.70 0.00 0.00 (355,682.51) 260,448.19 260,448.19 1.01%

POOLED INVESTMENT FUNDS

        LOGIC INCREMENT 21,270,676.35 21,270,676.35 0.00 279,966.30 (2,150,000.00) 19,400,642.65 19,400,642.65 75.25% 5.4291% 32

        LOGIC BOND 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

TOTAL POOLED 21,270,676.35  21,270,676.35 0.00 279,966.30 (2,150,000.00) 19,400,642.65  19,400,642.65 75.25%

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

        BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

TOTAL BLB 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%

DEBT SERVICE

MORGAN STANLEY INVESTMENT FUND 4,214,206.00 4,214,206.00 0.00 37,375.01 (3,240,203.00) 1,011,378.01 1,011,378.01 3.92% 3.8745% 1

BOND RESERVE

MORGAN STANLEY INVESTMENT FUND 4,365,400.00 4,365,400.00 0.00 56,379.70 0.00 4,421,779.70 4,421,779.70 17.15% 3.8745% 1

PLEDGED FUNDS

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 5,620.00 5,620.00 0.00 0.00 683,411.18 689,031.18 689,031.18 2.67% N/A 1

PROJECT FUNDS

BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% N/A 1

TOTAL BNY 8,585,226.00 8,585,226.00 0.00 93,754.71 (2,556,791.82) 6,122,188.89 6,122,188.89 23.74%

GRAND TOTAL 30,472,033.05 30,472,033.05 0.00 373,721.01 (5,062,474.33) 25,783,279.73 25,783,279.73 100%

DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
INVESTMENT REPORT, FOURTH QUARTER FYE 2023

FOR THE PERIOD JULY 1, 2023 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2023

20



“FY23 Audit Report”- ACTION ITEM 
 

AGENDA ITEM  FY23 Audit Report  

FIRM 
 

Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC 
 

REQUEST Review and discuss the current draft of the FY23 Audit Report for year 
ending June 30, 2023.  
 

ITEM HISTORY 6/13/2023 – Board granted full approval of Carr, Riggs & Ingram as 
auditors for FY23. 
 
6/5/2023 – Budget & Finance Committee authorized a  
recommendation for full Board approval of the drafted FY23 audit  
report as presented. 
 
 
 

ACTION ITEM Authorize approval of the drafted FY23 audit report as presented.     
 
 

CONTACTS Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC: Alyssa Hill, Partner  
DRA: Jana Gunter, Director of Finance 
DRA: Allen Douglas, Executive Director 
 

 

21



Main Street Market Square
Redevelopment Authority

d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS

June 30, 2023

22



October XX, 2023

The Board of Directors and Management
Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

We are pleased to present the results of our audit of the 2023 financial statements of Main Street Market
Square Redevelopment Authority, d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority (the Authority).

This report to the Board of Directors and management summarizes our audit, the reports issued and various
analyses and observations related to the Authority’s accounting and reporting. The document also contains
the communications required by our professional standards.

Our audit was designed, primarily, to express opinions on the Authority’s 2023 basic financial statements. We
considered the Authority’s current and emerging business needs, along with an assessment of risks that could
materially affect the financial statements, and aligned our audit procedures accordingly. We conducted the
audit with the objectivity and independence that you expect. We received the full support and assistance of
the Authority’s personnel.

At Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC (CRI), we are continually evaluating the quality of our professionals’ work in
order to deliver audit services of the highest quality that will meet or exceed your expectations. We
encourage you to provide any feedback you believe is appropriate to ensure that we do not overlook a single
detail as it relates to the quality of our services.

This report is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the Authority and is
not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We appreciate this opportunity to work with you. If you have any questions or comments, please contact me
at 832 333 7403 or ahill@cricpa.com.

Very truly yours,

Alyssa Hill
Partner

DRAFT
stst

uthorityuthor (

zeses ouro audit,audit, the rep
inging anda reporting.ting. The do

s.s.

ns on thehe Authority’sAutho 2023
businessbusi needs,ds, alongalo with

alignedigned ourour audita procedproc
e that youyou expect.pect. WeWe recrec

,, wewe are continuallycontinually evaev
off thethe highesthighest qualityquality

yy feedbackfeedback youyou believe is
ualityuality ofof ourour services.rvices

solelysolely for the usese of t
ouldould notn be,e, useus

oo ww

23



Required Communications

2

As discussed with the Board of Directors and management during our planning process, our audit plan
represented an approach responsive to the assessment of risk for the Authority. Specifically, we planned and
performed our audit to:

Perform audit services, as requested by the Board of Directors, in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards in order to express
opinions on the Authority’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2023;
Communicate directly with the Board of Directors and management regarding the results of our
audit procedures;
Address with the Board of Directors and management any accounting and financial reporting issues;
Anticipate and respond to concerns of the Board of Directors and management, and
Address other audit related projects as they arise and upon request.

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of Main Street
Market Square Redevelopment Authority, d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority (the Authority) as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated October XX, 2023.
Professional standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit:

MATTER TO BE COMMUNICATED AUDITORS’ RESPONSE
Auditors’ responsibility under Generally Accepted
Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated June 9,
2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to express opinions about whether the
financial statements prepared by management with
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material
respects, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP). Our audit of the financial statements does
not relieve you or management of your
responsibilities.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Authority. Such considerations were
solely for the purpose of determining our audit
procedures and not to provide any assurance
concerning such internal control.

Client’s responsibility Management, with oversight from those charged with
governance, is responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal controls, including monitoring
ongoing activities; for the selection and application of
accounting principles; and for the fair presentation in
the financial statements of financial position and
changes in financial position in conformity with the
applicable framework. Management is responsible
for the design and implementation of programs and
controls to prevent and detect fraud.
Management is responsible for overseeing nonaudit
services by designating an individual, preferably from
senior management, with suitable skill, knowledge, or
experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of
those services; and accept responsibility for them.

DRAFTatedated in our engagemengeme
23,23, ouro responsibility,espo ass

standards,dards, isis tot express
financialal statementssta
youryour oversightrsight ar
respects,spects, ini coco
generallygenerally

T
thethe

gg informatioinfor

FTTORST
accacc

(GAAP)(GA . O
notnot
respresp

FT
RA

D

24



Required Communications

3

MATTER TO BE COMMUNICATED AUDITORS’ RESPONSE
Planned scope and timing of the audit Our initial audit plan was not significantly altered

during our fieldwork.
Management judgments and accounting
estimates
The process used by management in forming
particularly sensitive accounting estimates and the
basis for the auditors’ conclusion regarding the
reasonableness of those estimates.

See section titled “Accounting Policies, Judgment, and
Sensitive Estimates & CRI Comments on Quality”.

Potential effect on the financial statements of
any significant risks and exposures
Major risks and exposures facing the Authority and
how they are disclosed.

No such risks or exposures were noted other than
those disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Significant accounting policies, including critical
accounting policies and alternative treatments
within generally accepted accounting principles
and the auditors’ judgment about the quality of
accounting principles

The significant accounting policies used by the
Authority are described in note 2 to the financial
statements. No new accounting policies were
adopted and the application of existing policies was
not changed in fiscal year 2023.

We noted no transactions entered into by the
Authority during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant
transactions have been recognized in the financial
statements in the proper period.

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly
sensitive because of their significance to financial
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures
affecting the financial statements were:

Note 7 Tax increment contract revenue
bonds
Note 8 Leases
Note 11 Commitments and contingencies

The Authority’s financial statement disclosures are
neutral, consistent, and clear.

Significant difficulties encountered in the audit
Any significant difficulties, for example,
unreasonable logistical constraints or lack of
cooperation by management.

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing
with management in performing and completing our
audit.

DRAFTficantficant accountingccoun p
tyty arear describedbed ini not

ments.ment No new accoacc
optedopted andd thethe applicatio

not changedhanged inin fiscal yea

WeWe notedd nono tra
AuthorityAuthority duringduring
authoritativeauthoritative
transactiontran
statemetate

CeCe

T
RA

25



Required Communications

4

MATTER TO BE COMMUNICATED AUDITORS’ RESPONSE
Disagreements with management
Disagreements, whether or not subsequently
resolved, about matters significant to the financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, that
could be significant to the financial statements or
auditors’ report. This does not include those that
came about based on incomplete facts or
preliminary information.

We are pleased to report that no such disagreements
arose during the course of our audit.  

Other findings or issues
Matters significant to oversight of the financial
reporting practices by those charged with
governance. For example, an entity's failure to
obtain the necessary type of audit, such as one
under Government Auditing Standards, in addition
to GAAS.

None noted.

Matters arising from the audit that were
discussed with, or the subject of correspondence
with, management
Business conditions that might affect risk or
discussions regarding accounting practices or
application of auditing standards.

None noted.

Corrected and uncorrected misstatements
All significant audit adjustments arising from the
audit, whether or not recorded by the Authority,
that could individually or in the aggregate have a
significant effect on the financial statements. We
should also inform the Board of Directors about
uncorrected misstatements aggregated by us
during the current engagement and pertaining to
the latest period presented, that were determined
by management to be immaterial, both
individually and in the aggregate, to the financial
statements taken as a whole. Any internal control
deficiencies that could have prevented the
misstatements.

See section titled “Summary of Audit Adjustments”.

Major issues discussed with management prior to
retention
Any major accounting, auditing or reporting issues
discussed with management in connection with
our initial or recurring retention.

Discussions occurred in the normal course of our
professional relationship and our responses were not a
condition to our retention.

DRA
statementsements

mentsments arisingarising fromfro the
cordedcorde byby thethe Authority,Author

oror inin the aggregateega havhav
financialfinan statemenem
ardard ofof Directoirect

aggregaaggrega
anan

SeSRAFT
cece

risk or
acticesactices or

None noted.noted.

AFT
RARARA

26



Required Communications

5

MATTER TO BE COMMUNICATED AUDITORS’ RESPONSE
Consultations with other accountants
When management has consulted with other
accountants about significant accounting or
auditing matters.

To our knowledge, there were no such consultations
with other accountants.

Written representations
A description of the written representations the
auditor requested (or a copy of the representation
letter).

See “Management Representation Letter” section.

Internal control deficiencies
Any significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control that came to the auditors’ attention
during the audit.

See “Internal Control Findings” section.

Fraud and illegal acts
Fraud involving the Authority’s management or
those responsible for internal controls, or causing a
material misstatement of the financial statements,
where the auditor determines there is evidence
that such fraud may exist. Any illegal acts coming
to the auditors’ attention involving senior
management and any other illegal acts, unless
clearly inconsequential.

We are unaware of any fraud or illegal acts involving
management or causing material misstatement of the
financial statements.

Significant unusual accounting transactions
Auditor communication with governance to include
auditors’ views on policies and practices
management used, as well as the auditors’
understanding of the business purpose.

No significant unusual accounting transactions were
noted during the year.

Other information in documents containing
audited financial statements
The external auditors’ responsibility for
information in a document containing audited
financial statements, as well as any procedures
performed and the results.

Our responsibility related to documents (including
annual reports, websites, etc.) containing the
financial statements is to read the other information
to consider whether:

Such information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements; and

We believe such information represents a
material misstatement of fact.

We have not been provided any such items to date
and are unaware of any other documents that contain
the audited financial statements.

ountingount transactionsactio
withwith governancece tot in

oliciesolicies andd
llll asas thethe

rporpoDRAFT
g aa

ments,
evidence

ctscts comingcomi
olvingolving senioreni

egalgal acts, unlunlessess

We areare unawareunawar of any fr
managementement or causin
financialfina statementstatemFT

RA
DR

27



Required Communications

6

MATTER TO BE COMMUNICATED AUDITORS’ RESPONSE
Supplementary information
The auditors’ responsibility for supplementary
information accompanying the financial
statements, as well as any procedures performed
and the results.

We applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements
the financial statements. Our procedures consisted of
inquiries of management regarding the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the financial statements,
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the financial statements. We did not audit the RSI
and do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the RSI.

Other supplementary information, requested by the
City of Houston, which accompanies the basic
financial statements but is not RSI, was subject to
certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves and other additional
procedures. The supplementary information includes
an in relation opinion to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

DRAFT
,, whw

mentsments but
tionaltional procedurepr

oncilingoncilin suchuch informa
yingying accounting andand ot

parepare the basicas financialal stst
inancialancia statementstatem them
procedures.dures. The suppl
anan in relatirelation o
statementsstatemen asas aa

RARARA

28



Accounting Policies, Judgement, and Sensitive Estimates
& CRI Comments on Quality

7

We are required to communicate our judgments about the quality, not just the acceptability, of the
Authority's accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting. We are also required to communicate
critical accounting policies and sensitive accounting estimates. Accounting estimates are an integral part of
the financial statements prepared by management and are based on management’s knowledge and
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates
are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the
possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The Board of
Directors may wish to monitor throughout the year the process used to compute and record these accounting
estimates. The table below summarizes our communications regarding these matters.

AREA ACCOUNTING POLICY CRITICAL
POLICY?

JUDGMENTS &
SENSITIVE
ESTIMATE

AUDITORS’
CONCLUSIONS ON

QUALITY OF
ACCOUNTING POLICY &

APPLICATION
Leases The Authority

determines its
estimated
incremental
borrowing rate to
calculate the present
value of the lease
payments and the
lease term at
inception of the lease.

X Judgment in this
area relates to the
determination of
the incremental
borrowing rate and
likelihood of options
to extend or
terminate the lease
at commencement
of leases under
GASB Statement No.
87.

The Authority’s policies
are in accordance with
all applicable accounting
guidelines.

DRAF
..

RRRAAFTentent inin thisthis
aa relatesrela to thethe

eterminationeter of
thethe incrementaleme
borrowingborrowing rate and
likelihoodkeliho of optio
to extendxtend or
terminateterminate tht

TTT
ATE

TT
atat commcomm
of leas
GAS
8

Th
are i
allaT

AFT

29



Summary of Audit Adjustments

8

During the course of our audit, we accumulate differences between amounts recorded by the Authority and
amounts that we believe are required to be recorded under GAAP reporting guidelines. Those adjustments
are either recorded (corrected) by the Authority or passed (uncorrected). Uncorrected misstatements or the
matters underlying them could potentially cause future period financial statements to be materially
misstated, even if, in the auditors’ judgment, such uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial
statements under audit.

There were no unrecorded misstatements.

Recorded adjustments:

30



Summary of Audit Adjustments

9

QUALITATIVE MATERIALITY CONSIDERATIONS

In evaluating the materiality of audit differences when they do arise, we consider both quantitative and
qualitative factors, for example:

Whether the difference arises from an item capable of precise measurement or whether it arises
from an estimate, and, if so, the degree of imprecision inherent in the estimate.
Whether the difference masks a change in earnings or other trends.
Whether the difference changes a net decrease in assets to addition, or vice versa.
Whether the difference concerns an area of the Authority’s operating environment that has been
identified as playing a significant role in the Authority’s operations or viability.
Whether the difference affects compliance with regulatory requirements.
Whether the difference has the effect of increasing management’s compensation – for example, by
satisfying requirements for the award of bonuses or other forms of incentive compensation.
Whether the difference involves concealment of an unlawful transaction.

DRAFT
t st s

msms ofof ince
ulul transaction.transa

31



Management Representation Letter

10

To be inserted after signature

32



Internal Control Findings

11

The Board of Directors and Management
Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities and major
funds of Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority, dba Downtown Redevelopment Authority
(the Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, we considered the Authority’s internal control over financial
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Given
those limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to
be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been detected.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and
management, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

Houston, Texas
October XX, 2023 DRAFT

trotro

ff aa controlco
unctions,unctions, to preve

ficiency,ficien orr aa combinac
yy thattha a materialal misstam

dd corrected,corrected, on a timelyely bb

ited purposeurpose describedd in
nternalnte controltrol thatt migh

dentifyntify anyany deficienciesdeficiencie in
weaknessesness maymay existexist thatha

lyly forfor the informationinform
oo be,be andnd shouldd notn be

33



Main Street Market Square
Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

June 30, 2023

pme

SUPPLEME

34



Table of Contents

Page
REPORT
Independent Auditors’ Report 1

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 4

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and Statement of Net Position 14

Governmental Funds Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances and Statement of Activities 15

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 17

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund
Balance – Budget to Actual – All Funds (Unaudited) 35

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Schedule of Operating Expenses and Capital Expenditures 36

Schedule of Estimated Project Costs to Actual Costs 39

DRAFTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTdd

AAAAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFT
AFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTFTTTT

ExpendituresendituresAAAAAAAAAAoo ActualActual Costss

RARARARAAAAAAAAA

35



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Board of Directors
Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority
Houston, Texas

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and each major
fund of Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority, d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment
Authority (the Authority), a component of the City of Houston, Texas, as of and for the year ended June
30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the Authority as of
June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the Authority, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

DRAFTTovern Tority, d/b/

FTon, T s of

FTnts, ively

Fents

AFed e pre

AFtal activiti nd ea

RAFnan position f

RAcepted he Unit t

cordancedance withwith auditingauditing
sibilitiesibilities underunder those

AuditAudit off thethe FinancialFinancia StD,Autho and toto meetet
ementsemen relatinging to
appropriateappropriate tot

ntnt fofo

36



2

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related
matters that we identified during the audit.DRAFT

epticiseptic

ff thethe financialfin
roceduresrocedures responsiveres

dencedenc regardingng theth am

trol relevantrelevant to the au
circumstances,circumstances, butb not f

Authority’sthority’s internalinternal contco

ofof accountingaccounting policiespo
ee byby management,agement, asa w

inin ourour judgment,judgmen there
antialantia doubtoubt aboutabout thet

erioderiod of time.

municatemunic withith th
ngng ofof thethe aa

ngng thth

37



3

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and the schedule of revenues, expenditures and change in fund balance – budget
to actual be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The schedule of operating expenses
and capital expenditures for the year ended June 30, 2023 and the schedule of estimated project costs
to actual costs for the period from July 6, 1999 (date of inception) through June 30, 2023
(supplementary information), are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required
part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

Houston, Texas
October XX, 2023

DRAFT
ee ono

oo expressex

rmingming opinioinionsn on the
ial statements.tements The sch

nene 30,30 2023 andand the sch
ly 6,6, 19991999 (date(da ofof in

nted for purposespurposes ofof addad
.. SuchSuch informationmatio is th

oo thethe underlyingnderlying accouac
nformationformation hashas beenbee subsu

statementsments andan certaincertain
onon directlydirectl toto theth unde

ementseme or toto thee basicbas
anceance with auditinging stan

mentarymenta informatorm
ss aa whole.whole.

38



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

4

GENERAL

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority,
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority (the Authority), provides an overview of the Authority’s
financial performance including comparative data for the year ended June 30, 2023 with the year ended
June 30, 2022 and a brief explanation for significant changes between fiscal years. Since the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis is designed to focus on current activities, resulting changes and
current known facts, please read in conjunction with the Authority’s basic financial statements and the
notes to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Authority paid $2,706,949 to the Buffalo Bayou Partnership in accordance with the economic
development agreement for the continued operation of project facilities at Buffalo Bayou Park.

The Authority completed the Allen Parkway reconstruction project in 2017 and turned operation
and maintenance of the improvements over to the City of Houston. During fiscal year 2019, the
Authority board determined that the area needed special attention as a major gateway into
downtown and agreed to take over maintenance responsibility for an initial three year period
which has now been extended to 2027. A total of $149,145 was spent during the fiscal year 2023.

The Authority continued working on its fourth major capital project provided for in the 2015 bond
offering: to develop Trebly Park (Southern Downtown Pocket Park). The Authority paid $1,531,718
in current year expenditures related to this project. Funds went to Structura, Inc. as the general
contractor for construction at the park, Renfrow Metalsmiths, LLC for park furniture, Project
Surveillance, Inc. for oversight, Core Design Studio for signage, $29,666 per month in rent to the
landlord for the long term ground lease. The Authority also paid $103,801 in property taxes on
the site. The park opened to the public on January 27, 2023.

The Authority continued work on the next capital project identified through Plan Downtown for
redevelopment and reconstruction of Bagby Street on the west side of downtown. Expenditures
totaling $942,569 were paid in connection with this project in fiscal year 2023. A large portion of
those funds were paid to the construction contractor, Main Lane Industries to finish out the final
work items on the punch list.

The Authority paid $1,882,161 in fiscal year 2023 to the City of Houston for Municipal Services in
the Zone that were allocated to support the City budget, including $882,161 dedicated to the
City’s Police Department Overtime Program.

ershipership ini accor
projectproj facilitiesfacili at B

nstructionnstruction projectp in 2020
o thethe CityCity ofof Houston.

a neededed specialspe atten
aintenanceaintena responsibilitspons

7. A totaltotal ofof $149,145$149,145 ww

ngng onon itsits fourthth majorm ca
arkark (Southern(Southe Downtowwnt

ureses relatedrelated toto thisthis projeproje
uction atat thethe park, Ren

rr oversight,oversight, CoreCore Design
longlong term groundroun leaseleas
rkrk openedope to thehe publp

eded workwork
nstnst

39



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

5

The Authority entered into an agreement in 2012 with Rusk at San Jacinto Partners, LP for the
historic preservation and redevelopment of the Texas Company Building into a luxury residential
tower with 286 units named The Star. The Authority accrued $337,569 in 2023 for
reimbursements related to the 2022 tax year and accrued $327,664 in 2022 for reimbursements
related to the 2021 tax year.

The Authority entered into an agreement in 2013 with 806 Main Hotel, LLC for the historic
preservation and redevelopment of the Carter Building into the J. W. Marriott Hotel. The
Authority accrued $142,723 in fiscal year 2023 for reimbursements related to the 2022 tax year
and accrued $215,815 in fiscal year 2022 for reimbursements related to 2021 tax year.

The Authority entered into an agreement in 2014 with HDT Hotels, LLC to provide an economic
development grant for the redevelopment of the Savoy Hotel into a full service Holiday Inn at
1616 Main Street. The Authority accrued $23,274 in fiscal year 2023 for reimbursements related
to the 2022 tax year and paid $16,386 in fiscal year 2022 for reimbursements related to 2021.

The Authority entered into an agreement in 2014 with HA Hotel Partners to provide an economic
development grant for the construction of the Hotel Alessandra in the GreenStreet development.
The 223 room luxury hotel was completed and opened in October of 2017. The hotel suspended
operations in January 2021 due to the impacts of the COVID pandemic. The hotel has re opened as
The Laura and was eligible for payments to resume in 2023 for the 2022 tax year. The Authority
accrued $56,032 in fiscal year 2023 for reimbursements related to the 2022 tax year.

In 2012, the Authority created a program called the Downtown Living Initiative (DLI) which was
designed to incentivize residential development in the Zone. Developers were eligible to receive a
rebate equal to 75% of the incremental City of Houston ad valorem taxes generated by the project
upon completion for a fifteen year period up to a maximum of $15,000 per residential unit. As of
the end of the year, five residential projects were open and submitted requests for
reimbursement. The Authority accrued for the fiscal year 2023 installments to; Market Square
Tower in the amount of $613,712, and Fairfield Block 334 in the amount of $153,552.

The Authority pledged a total of $10 million to the renovation of Jones Plaza and submitted the
last payment of $7,485,490 in 2023. The project has achieved significant fundraising goals,
including a $10 million donation from Lynn Wyatt and $1.4 million in support from local
philanthropic foundations. The plaza has been re named The Lynn Wyatt Square for the
Performing Arts and will open by the end of 2024.

In November of 2018, the Authority board approved an economic development agreement with
MassChallenge in the amount of $2.5 million over five years. MassChallenge is a global non profit
startup accelerator with a focus on developing high impact, early stage entrepreneurs in
Downtown Houston. In 2023 the Authority board ended its agreement with Mass Challenge due to
Mass Challenge’s focus changing to a virtual platform because of COVID pandemic to cultivate
entrepreneurs around the world and moving away from development of entrepreneurs in
Downtown Houston. The Authority paid out a total of $2.1 million over a four year period.

DRAFT
Hotels,Hote

HotelHotel ini to a f
scalscal year 20232023 for re

20222022 for reimbursementursem

0144 withwit HAHA HotelH Partn
the Hotelel AlessandraAles in

teded andand openedopened inin OctoO
e impactspact ofof thethe COVIDCOVID pp

ymentsy too resumeresum inin 2020
023023 forfor reimbursementsreimburse

reatedated a programprogram calledcalled
e residentialresidential developmendevelopmen

%% ofof thethe incrementalincrementa City
nn forfor a fifteenn yearyea perioperio
ee year,ye five residere
hehe AuthorityAuthority aca

ff $613,71$613,71

40



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

6

In November of 2018, the Authority board approved an economic development agreement with
401 Franklin St, LTD for restoration and redevelopment of the Barbara Jordon Post Office building
to develop a mixed use project called Post HTX. The site, on the northwest side of downtown will
be a hub of visual and immersive art, entertainment, cultural exhibition, shopping, dining,
commercial office space and a rooftop farm/garden. The agreement provides a 75% rebate of the
annual incremental City of Houston ad valorem taxes up to a cap of $23 million for the project.
The site was completed in fiscal year 2022 and is eligible for funding in fiscal year 2023. The
Authority accrued $344,032 in fiscal year 2023 for reimbursements related to the 2022 tax year.

In September of 2019, the Authority board approved an economic development agreement with
Gener8tor in the amount of $1.25 million over five years. Gener8tor is a nationally recognized
pre accelerator, specializing in translating ideas into start up businesses. The Authority paid
$250,000 in fiscal year 2023 for this project.

In November of 2019, the Authority board entered into a lease agreement with Amegy Bank to
establish the 10th floor of 1801 Main as an innovation hub, named The Downtown Launchpad.
The goal of the Downtown Launchpad is to bring together in one space all the life cycle
components necessary to create companies and generate local jobs in the innovation sector. This
project brings together our partners: pre accelerator Gener8tor, incubator Impact Hub, and
accelerator MassChallenge, as well as co working leader, The Cannon. The Launchpad opened in
July of 2020. The Authority paid $557,349 in fiscal year 2023 for this project.

In November of 2019, the Authority board approved capital project support to the Buffalo Bayou
Partnership for construction of hike & bike trails east of Allen’s landing on the southern bank of
Buffalo Bayou in the amount of $2 million. The Authority paid $448,719 in fiscal year 2023 for this
project.

The Authority continued its funding for the North Houston Highway Improvement Project with a
contribution of $250,000 to Central Houston Civic Improvement. The purpose of these funds is to
further develop the civic opportunities that may be achieved through parks, hike and bike trails,
enhanced landscaping, and understory uses that are adjacent to TxDOT’s new freeway alignment.

During fiscal year 2015, the Authority issued $41,505,000 in Tax Increment Contract Revenue
Bonds (Series 2015 Bonds). The bonds were issued at a premium of $4,462,805 and have a series
of maturities from 2022 through 2035. $775,000 in principal payments were required in fiscal year
2023, as well as the Authority recorded $1,949,717 in interest expense, and amortized $30,214 in
issuance costs.

During fiscal year 2023, the Authority recorded $1,405,000 and $44,602 in principal and interest
expense, respectively, related to the Series 2012 Bonds.

DRAFT
nerner

upup busi

intointo a lease agreemengreem
ovationovati hub,ub named TheThe

to bringbring togethertoge in o
s and generatenerate local jobs

prepre acceleratoraccelerator Gener8Ge
s co workingworking leleader,ade TheThe

557,349 inn fiscalfiscal yearyear 202202

AuthorityAutho boardboa approvedpro
ionn ofof hikee && bikebike trailstrails

mount ofof $2$2 million.m Theh

ontinuedontinu its fundingnd f
0,0000,000 to Centraent

vicvic oppooppo
dd

41



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

7

In December of 2022 Houston’s City Council approved the DRA/TIRZ#3 Board’s Resolution of
November 8, 2022 adopting the Eighth Amended Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing
Plan (Plan). This Plan expanded the boundaries of the DRA/TIRZ#3 by approximately 10 acres and
is framed by Allen Parkway, Taft, and McKinney Streets. The plan provides for the opportunity to
engage in the public enhancement and public improvement of a proposed mixed used
development poised to engage with the Buffalo Bayou Park, one of Houston’s premier public
assets whose operation and maintenance costs are substantially covered through annual
installments from the DRA/TIRZ#3.The public improvements proposed for the mixed use
development will further redound to the benefit of the surrounding residential neighborhood and
the Downtown core.

Since creation of Reinvestment Zone Number Three (Main Street Market Square TIRZ) in 1995,
and the expansion of the Zone in 1998, 2005, 2007, 2011 and 2019 the appraised value for real
property located within the Zone has increased to approximately $615 million, $3.1 billion, $107
million, $146 million, and $2.1 billion and $31 million for the original (Part A), and expanded zones
(Part B, Part D, Part F, Part G and Part I) areas, respectively. This total increase of approximately
$4.7 billion, over the base years has been generated due to multiple developments of housing and
commercial projects in addition to increased land values throughout the Zone.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s
basic financial statements. According to the definition in Governmental Accounting Standards Board,
the Authority qualifies as a special purpose government with one program – redevelopment of certain
areas located in the Central Business District of the City of Houston, Texas.

Government wide statements report information about the Authority as a whole using accounting
methods similar to those used in private sector companies. The Statement of Net Position includes all
of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between assets and liabilities presented as
net position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Authority’s net position may serve as a useful
indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is improving or deteriorating. All of the
current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Activities, regardless of
when cash is received or paid. The fund financial statements report information about the Authority on
the modified accrual basis, which only accounts for revenues that are measurable and available within
the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.

Adjustments are provided to reconcile the government wide statements to the fund statements.
Explanations for the reconciling items are provided as part of the financial statements.

DRAFT
StreetStree M

11 andand 20192 the
proximatelyproximately $615$6 mill

nn forfor the originalal (Part(Pa A)
espectively.espectively. This totalal inin

eratedated duedue toto multiple de
d land valuesalues throughoutt

S

AnalysisAnalysis isi intendedende to s
dingding to thehe definitionitio in

ecialal purposepurpose governmengovernmen
Businesss DistrictDistric of the CC

tementsteme reportport informaform
oseose usedu in privatevat se

andand liabilities,liabilities,
creasescreases oo

cialcial

42



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

8

Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position includes all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting.
The following table reflects condensed information on the Authority’s net deficit at June 30:

2023 2022

Assets
Capital assets, net 10,589,671$ 11,177,828$
Other assets:
Cash and investments 30,472,033 33,165,430
Tax increment and other receivables 1,198,602 860,581
Other assets 360,672 419,816

Total assets 42,620,978 45,623,655

Liabilities
Accounts, interest and retainage payable 4,979,581$ 5,992,738$
Lease liabilities due in one year 408,374 392,471
Lease liabilities due after one year 10,559,425 10,968,447
Bonds payable due in one year 2,250,000 2,180,000
Bonds payable due after one year 42,560,493 45,033,633

Total liabilities 60,757,873 64,567,289

Net deficit
Restricted for debt service 8,585,226 8,559,039
Unrestricted (26,722,121) (27,502,673)

Total net deficit (18,136,895)$ (18,943,634)$

Tax increment funds not needed for immediate operations are invested in Texas public funds
investment pools (TexStar or LOGIC) or money market funds. All investments of the Authority are
allowable under the Authority’s investment policy and the Public Funds Investment Act. Total operating
cash was $616,131, debt service was $8,585,226 and total general fund investments were $21,270,676
at June 30, 2023. Total operating cash was $2,231,071, debt service was $8,559,039 and total general
fund investments were $22,375,320 at June 30, 2022.

DRAFT42,620,$

vicevice

TTFTFT
RARARARA

DDDD

43



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

9

Tax increments are based on calendar year taxes which are then received the next fiscal year. Tax
increment receivables of $136,966 at June 30, 2023, represent payments due from Harris County.
Other accounts receivable of $1,061,636 at June 30, 2023, includes $511,961 due from the Houston
Downtown Management District for its share of the Downtown Living Initiative grants and $549,675 of
interest on tax increments for fiscal year 2016 through fiscal year 2023. The Authority is expected to
receive the interest on tax increments in September 2023.

Capital assets of the Authority include $11,765,985 of leased assets upon adoption of GASB Statement
No. 87, $1,176,314 of accumulated amortization expense, for a net capital asset balance of $10,589,671.

Other assets include costs of premiums paid for credit enhancement insurance for the Series 2015
Bonds which are amortized over the life of the bonds (through fiscal year 2035). The net unamortized
balance at June 30, 2023, and 2022 was $357,533 and $387,747, respectively. Other assets also include
prepaid expenses totaling $3,139 and $32,069 at June 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively for insurance
premiums in 2023 and prepaid rent on the Southern Downtown Park and insurance premiums in 2022.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses on June 30, 2023, of $3,574,432 represents grant payments due
of $3,216,851, capital project expenditures of $250,000 and payments due to the administrative
contractor for staffing of $107,581. Accounts payable and accrued expenses on June 30, 2022 of
$4,810,945 represents grant payments due of $2,455,354, amounts for the municipal services fee of
$1,994,664, capital project expenditures of $278,658, and payments due to the administrative
contractor for staffing of $82,269. Retainage payable at June 30, 2023 and 2022 totaled $738,032 and
$495,597, respectively. Accrued interest at June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, totaled $667,117 and
$686,196, respectively. Effective July 1, 2021, the Authority adopted GASB Statement No. 87. At June 30,
2023 and 2022 the lease liability outstanding was $10,967,799 and $11,360,915, respectively.

Unrestricted net position represents that which can be used to finance day to day operations without
the constraints established by debt covenants. The Authority has used bond and loan proceeds to pay
various project costs during previous fiscal years and has increased its debt for new projects with the
Series 2015 bond issue, causing the Authority to have an accumulated deficit. At June 30, 2023 and June
30, 2022, the Authority has an unrestricted net deficit of $18,136,895 and $18,943,634, respectively.
The Authority had net position restricted for debt service of $8,585,226 and $8,559,039 at June 30, 2023
and June 30, 2022, respectively.

DRAFT
mentment ins

fiscalfiscal yeary 203
747,747, respectively.respectiv Ot

0,0, 2023,20 and 2022,2022, respe
wntownwnto Parka and insurasura

30, 2023,3 ofof $3,574,432$3
ofof $250,000$25 andand paym

ountss payablepayable andan accruaccr
due of $2,455,354,$2,455,354, amoamo

ituresitures ofo $278,658,278,65 an
RetainageRetainage payableble at J

d interestinte atat JuneJune 30,30, 22
tive Julyy 1,1, 2021,202 the AutAut

iabilityiability outstandingoutstandin was $

tiontion representsr thatth w
eded byby debt covecov

previousprevious
thethe

44



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

10

Statement of Activities

The Statement of Activities presents the operating results of the Authority. The following table reflects
condensed information on the Authority’s operations for the years ended June 30:

2023 2022

Revenues
Tax increments 21,248,518$ 21,858,148$
Interest on tax increments 549,675
Investment and other income 636,628 2,470,508

Total revenues 22,434,821 24,328,656

Expenses
Current 2,661,257 2,406,006
Capital outlay 16,941,911 16,224,936
Debt service 2,024,914 2,078,085

Total expenses 21,628,082 20,709,027

Change in net position 806,739 3,619,629

Net deficit beginning of year (18,943,634) (22,563,263)

Net deficit end of year (18,136,895)$ (18,943,634)$

The City of Houston (the City), Harris County and Harris County Flood Control District, Harris County
Hospital District, and Port of Houston (collectively, the County) and Houston Independent School District
(HISD) have agreed, subject to certain limitations, to deposit to the Tax Increment Fund established for
the Zone, a certain percentage of tax collections arising from their respective taxation of the increase, if
any, in the appraised value of real property located in the Zone since a designated base year. Tax
increments deposited into the Tax Increment Fund are based on the current tax rates or the portion of a
tax rate that an entity has agreed to pay to the Zone. The City remits tax increments collected by the
City, the County and HISD on an annual basis.

DRAFT
22,43

2,661,2,661,
16,94
2TT

AFAFAA
DRDRDRDR

hehe City),Cit Harrisris Co
ofof HoustonHouston (c(

certacerta

45



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

11

Project costs include the following for the years ended June 30:

2023 2022
Capital Improvement Projects
Lynn Wyatt Square 7,485,490$ 11,855$
Southern Downtown Pocket Park 1,336,688 5,813,298
Bagby Street Improvements 942,569 3,445,985
NHHIP Civic Opportunities 250,000 250,000
Allen Parkway Reconstruction 149,145 174,867

Total Capital Improvement Projects 10,163,892 9,696,005
Historic Preservation
The Star Residential 337,569 393,810
806 Main (JW Marriott) 142,723 166,214
723 Main (Marriot AC Collection Hotel) 27,334 54,084

Economic Development Agreements
Buffalo Bayou Park 2,706,949 2,521,546
Market Square Tower Residential 613,712 632,435
Downtown Launchpad 528,859 488,405
Hike & Bike Trails East of Allen's Landing 448,719 500,000
MassChallenge 404,000
Aris Market Square Residential 427,508 361,393
Gener8tor 250,000 250,000
SkyHouse Main Residential 243,726 235,802
SkyHouse Houston Residential 242,926 234,751
Block 334 Residential 153,552 159,472
Economic Development Retail 118,684 74,677
1616 Main (Holiday Inn Hotel) 23,274 16,386
Downtown Living Initiative 19,379 35,956
Post HTX 344,032
Hotel Alessandra/Laura 56,032
Targeted Blight Remediation 38,612
Other 54,429

Total Project Costs 16,941,911$ 16,224,936$

3
142,
27

g

dentialdential

mentment RetailR
Hotel)Hote

46



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

12

Other current operating costs include the following for the years ended June 30:

2023 2022

Administrative services 690,945$ 347,333$
Consulting 10,320 15,454
Accounting and auditing 19,228 17,500
Legal fees 15,369 11,615
Office expense 37,954 8,554
Insurance 5,280 10,886

Total other operating costs 779,096$ 411,342$

In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, the Authority paid $1,882,161 and $1,994,664, respectively, to the City
under the Authority’s Municipal Service Costs Agreement.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Effective July 1, 2021, the Authority adopted GASB Statement No. 87 resulting in leased capital assets of
$11,177,828, net of accumulated amortization of $588,157. As of June 30, 2023, the Authority had
$10,589,671 in leased capital assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,176,314. Capital assets
constructed by the Authority in the public domain are conveyed to the City of Houston upon
completion. Leasehold improvements constructed by the Authority are conveyed to the landlord upon
expiration or termination of the lease agreement.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

At the end of the current fiscal year, the Authority’s governmental funds reported combined ending
fund balances of approximately $27.4 million which is approximately $1.5 million less than the prior
fiscal year due to spending on capital projects that were delayed in prior years. Approximately 67% of
the fund balances, or $18.3 million is committed or assigned to various historic preservation, parks and
recreation, theater district and economic development projects of the Authority. 2% of the fund balance
or $0.5 million is available for spending at the government’s discretion provided expenditures are
allowable by the Authority’s project plan and other legal authorities. The remainder of the fund balance
is restricted to indicate that it is committed to pay debt service in the amount of approximately $8.6
million.

DEBT

In May of 2015, the Authority issued $41,505,000 in Tax Increment Contract Revenue Bonds (Series
2015 Bonds). The bonds were issued at a premium of $4,462,805 and have a series of maturities from
2022 through 2035. The Authority accrued and paid during fiscal years 2023 and 2022 $1,960,050 and
$1,975,550 in interest expense and amortized $30,214 in premiums for credit enhancement insurance
for both 2023 and 2022. Bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2016, are subject to redemption at
the option of the Authority at a price equal to par value plus accrued interest. Additional insurance
premiums are required if these bonds are not redeemed beginning in 2026.

DRAFT
$

TT6161 andan $1,994,664,994,66 res
t.t.

GASBASB StatementStatement No.No. 87
ation ofof $588,157.$588,157. AsAs

net of accumulatedcumulated amoamo
hehe publicpublic domainmai are

entsents constructedtru byby thet
e leaseease agreement.agreement.

rrentrrent fiscal year,ar, the AA
ximatelyximat $27.47.4 m

onon capitalcapital
illionillion

47



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

13

The Authority issued $22,745,000 of Tax Increment Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2012 in
June 2012 for the purposes of refunding the Series 2002A and the Series 2009 Bonds in the amounts of
$8,371,036 and $16,734,546 respectively, which includes both principal and interest. During fiscal years
2023 and 2022 the Authority accrued and paid $44,602 and $84,536 of interest payments related to the
Series 2012 Bonds, respectively.

More detailed information about the Authority’s debt is presented in the notes to the basic financial
statements.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The Authority receives and records amounts available for the portion of the project plan that the
Authority will implement in the future. The Authority does not record tax increments from the original
Zone set aside for HISD educational facilities which equaled $1,922,208 and $2,130,491 for the years
June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively. In addition, the City, County, and HISD charge an
administrative fee prior to payment of their increments which totaled $993,784 and $1,022,034 for the
years June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, respectively. These deductions have been netted out of gross
increment revenue in the financial statements. The Authority’s budget was not amended during fiscal
year 2023.

FUTURE PROJECTS

The Authority anticipates a 3% increase in the costs attributed to the operation and implementation of
the TIRZ Project and Financing Plans. The TIRZ/Authority has an agreement with Central Houston, Inc.
for administrative and professional services support.

The Authority has been working with the City of Houston and TxDOT on the North Houston Highway
Improvement Project (NHHIP). The NHHIP represents a unique opportunity to develop multiple civic
enhancements beyond the freeway construction itself that will promote economic development and
provide enjoyment for the community as a whole for years to come. As part of that effort, a new bond
offering will be considered in the future.

The Authority will also continue to assist in economic development projects, historic facade
restorations, capital improvement projects and residential development efforts.

* * * * *
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Main Street Market Square
Redevelopment Authority’s finances for all those with an interest in the government’s finances and to
show the Authority’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the
information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be addressed to Mr.
Allen Douglas, Executive Director, 1221 McKinney, Suite 4250, Houston, Texas 77010.

DRAFT
ortionortio o

recordrecord tax incr
$1,922,208$1,922,208 and $2,

ition,ition, the City,y County,Cou
ss whichwhi totaledt $993,7843,78

y. TheseThes deductionsdedu hav
he Authority’shority’s budget w

reaserease in thethe costss attribat
Plans.lans Thee TIRZ/AuthoriTIRZ/Authori

ssional servicesservices support.ort

nn workingwo withwith thee CityCit
(NHHIP).(NHH The NHHIPNH
hehe freewayfreeway conco

ommunityommunity
hehe fufu

48



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and
Statement of Net Position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
14

Debt
General Service Statement of

June 30, 2023 Fund Fund Total Adjustments Net Position

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 616,131$ 5,620$ 621,751$ $ 621,751$
Investments 21,270,676 8,579,606 29,850,282 29,850,282
Tax increment receivables 136,966 136,966 136,966
Other receivables 1,061,636 1,061,636 1,061,636
Capital assets, net 10,589,671 10,589,671
Other assets 3,139 3,139 357,533 360,672

Total assets 23,088,548$ 8,585,226$ 31,673,774$ 10,947,204$ 42,620,978$

Liabilities
Accounts payable 3,574,432$ $ 3,574,432$ $ 3,574,432$
Interest payable 667,117 667,117
Retainage payable 738,032 738,032
Lease liabilities due in one year 408,374 408,374
Lease liabilities due after one year 10,559,425 10,559,425
Bonds payable due in one year 2,250,000 2,250,000
Bonds payable due after one year 42,560,493 42,560,493

Total liabilities 3,574,432 3,574,432 57,183,441 60,757,873

Deferred inflow of resources
Deferred tax increment revenue 136,966 136,966 (136,966)
Interest on tax increments 549,675 549,675 (549,675)

Total deferred inflow of resources 686,641 686,641 (686,641)

Fund balances
Restricted 8,585,226 8,585,226 (8,585,226)
Committed 17,172,404 17,172,404 (17,172,404)
Assigned 1,143,000 1,143,000 (1,143,000)
Unassigned 512,071 512,071 (512,071)

Total fund balances 18,827,475 8,585,226 27,412,701 (27,412,701)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances 23,088,548$ 8,585,226$ 31,673,774$ 29,084,099$ $

Net deficit
Restricted for debt service 8,585,226$ 8,585,226$
Unrestricted (26,722,121) (26,722,121)

Total net deficit (18,136,895)$ (18,136,895)$

Total fund balance of governmental funds 27,412,701$

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different because
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore not reported in the funds 10,589,671

Long term liabilities and related interest are not due and payable in the
current period and therefore are not reported in the funds (56,445,409)
Cost of issuance for the premiums on credit enhancement insurance are
amortized over the life of the bonds in the government wide statements 357,533

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds (738,032)

Tax increments and interest on tax increments are not available for current period
expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds 686,641

Net deficit of governmental activities (18,136,895)$

DRAFT
3,574,3,53,574,3,

2 3,574,4

136,966136,966
549,675549,675

686,6416,641

17,172,40417,172,404
1,143,0001,143,000
512,07

18,8

lowslows
eses

FTFT
AFAF

DRDRDRDRDD

49



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Governmental Funds Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances and Statement of Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
15

For the year ended June 30, 2023 General Fund
Debt Service

Fund Total Adjustments
Statement of
Activities

Revenues
Tax increments 17,187,077$ 4,219,585$ 21,406,662$ (158,144)$ 21,248,518$
Investment and other income 636,628 636,628 636,628
Interest on tax increments 549,675 549,675

Total revenues 17,823,705 4,219,585 22,043,290 391,531 22,434,821

Expenditures/expenses
Current
Consultants 728,722 728,722 728,722
Administrative support/office expenses 45,094 45,094 45,094
Insurance 5,280 5,280 5,280
Municipal services 1,882,161 1,882,161 1,882,161

Capital outlay 16,504,438 16,504,438 437,473 16,941,911
Debt Service
Principal payments on bonds 2,180,000 2,180,000 (2,180,000)
Interest expense 223,521 2,013,398 2,236,919 (242,219) 1,994,700
Costs of issuance 30,214 30,214

Total expenditures/expenses 19,389,216 4,193,398 23,582,614 (1,954,532) 21,628,082

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (1,565,511) 26,187 (1,539,324) 1,539,324

Change in net position 806,739 806,739

Fund balances/net deficit:
Beginning of year 20,392,986 8,559,039 28,952,025 (47,895,659) (18,943,634)

End of year 18,827,475$ 8,585,226$ 27,412,701$ (45,549,596)$ (18,136,895)$

(Continued)

DRss DRA
19,389,219 389 2RAFT
A

728,722728,7728,722728,7
45,0945,094

8080 5,288
82,161 1,882

16,504,43816,50 16

2,180,002,180,00
223,52123,521

TTT
RARA

DRDR

50



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Governmental Funds Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances and Statement of Activities (Continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
16

Net change in total fund balances of governmental funds (1,539,324)$

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:
Tax increment revenues in the Statement of Activities that
do not provide current financial resources are not reported in the funds (158,144)
Interest on tax increments in the Statement of Activities that
do not provide current financial resources are not reported in the funds 549,675
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while governmental activities
report depreciation/amortization expense to allocate those expenditures over the life of the assets (588,157)
Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases long term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.
Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Also
governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when
debt is issued, whereas these amounts are amortized in the Statement of Activities
and are reported as interest expense:
Repayment of bond principal 2,180,000
Repyament of lease liability 393,119
Amortization of bond premium 223,140
Cost of issuance (30,214)

Some revenue reported in the Statement of Activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and therefore are not
reported as expenditures in governmental funds (223,356)

Change in net position of governmental activities 806,739$governmentalgover activitiestivitDRAFT
hehe

tt
ion.ion.

funds,funds but thethe
Position.Posit Also

ts,ts, andand similarar itemsit when
the Statementtatement ofof Activities

mentment of Activitiesivities dod nott reqre
ources andand thereforetherefore areare notnot

gogovernmentalvernmental fundsfund

DRDRDD

51



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

17

Note 1: DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION

Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority, d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority (the
Authority), is a not for profit local government corporation, created June 30, 1999 under the laws of the
State of Texas, and operating under Chapter 431, Texas Transportation Code, and Chapter 394, Texas
Local Government Code. The Authority was created by the City of Houston (the City) pursuant to
Resolution No. 1999 39 to aid, assist and act on the behalf of the City in the performance of the City’s
obligations with respect to Reinvestment Zone Number Three, City of Houston, Texas (Main Street
Market Square TIRZ or Zone).

Reinvestment Zone Number Three

Reinvestment Zone Number Three, City of Houston, Texas, also known as the Main Street Market
Square Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (the Zone) was created by City Council on December 13, 1995
under Chapter 311, Texas Tax Code, as a tax increment reinvestment zone (TIRZ). The Zone originally
consisted of nine city blocks around Market Square Park in Downtown Houston (Part A). In 1998, the
City approved the expansion of the Zone by adding approximately 65 blocks primarily along Main Street
(Part B), and in 1999, the City amended and restated the goals and objectives of the Part A and Part B
Plans and incorporated changes regarding HISD’s participation in the Zone (Part C). In 2005, the City
approved the addition of two city blocks to facilitate and support the development of a mixed use retail
and office complex known as the GreenStreet project (Part D). In 2007, the Zone was expanded to
include the city blocks encompassing City Hall, the Julia Ideson Building, the Central Library, City Hall
Annex, Sam Houston Park, and certain Buffalo Bayou parkland east of Sabine Street (Part E). In 2011,
the Zone was expanded to include approximately 300 acres of land, including the 158 acre existing City
park extending west of Downtown from Sabine Street to Shepherd Drive and other areas to the
northwest of Downtown (Part F). The fifth amendment in 2011 (Part F), also established an economic
development program, as authorized by Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Government Code, to fund
maintenance and operations for the project known as Buffalo Bayou Park. In 2019, the City approved
expansion of the Zone to include five areas contiguous with the current boundaries of the Zone to
facilitate civic opportunities that will arise as a result of the North Houston Highway Improvement
Project (Part G). In 2020, Sam Houston Park was de annexed from TIRZ #3 and incorporated into another
zone. In 2022, the City approved the expansion of the Zone to include approximately 10 acres bounded
by Allen Parkway, Stanford, Taft, and McKinney streets and appurtenant to the Zone via Allen Parkway
as a northern terminus (Part I). The plan provides for the opportunity to engage in the public
enhancement and public improvement of a proposed mixed used development poised to engage with
the Buffalo Bayou Park, one of Houston’s premier public assets whose operation and maintenance costs
are substantially covered through annual installments from the Zone.

DRAFTsoso knownkno as
atedted by CityCity CouncilC

einvestmenteinve zoneone (T( IRZ)
rkrk inin Downtownwn Houstousto

approximatelyproximately 65 blocks
ated thee goalsgoals and objec

D’sD’s participationparticipation ini the
facilitateitate andand supportsupport thth

nStreet projectproject (Part(Part D)D)
gg CityCity Hall,Ha thehe JuliaJu Ides

rtainrtain Buffalofalo Bayouou park
udede approximatelyapproximately 300300 aa

wntownn fromfrom Sabine SS
(Part(Part F).F). TheThe fifthfifth amen

m,m, asas authorizedized by ChapCha
rationsration for the projecpr

oo includeinc fivefive
thatthat wilwil
HousHous

52



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

18

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Reporting Entity

As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these basic
financial statements represent all the funds of the Main Street Market Square Redevelopment
Authority, d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority. The Authority is a component unit of the City of
Houston. Component units are legally separate entities for which the primary government is financially
accountable. In evaluating the Authority as a reporting entity, management has considered all potential
component units in accordance with Section 2100: Defining the Financial Reporting Entity of the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Codification.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Government Wide Financial Statements

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. These statements are prepared on the “economic resources” measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the Authority’s assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources are included in the accompanying Statement of
Net Position. The Statement of Activities presents changes in net position. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flow.

Government wide statements distinguish between governmental type and business type activities.
Governmental activities are those financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non
exchange revenues and are usually reported in governmental and internal service funds. Business type
activities are financed in whole or in part through fees charged for goods or services to the general
public and are usually reported in proprietary funds. The Authority does not have any business type
activities.

Under the government wide financial statements, net position is classified into the following two
components:

Restricted – This component of net position consists of that on which constraints have been placed
through external constraints imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments or constraints imposed by law through contractual provisions or enabling
legislation.

Unrestricted – This component of net position consists of that which does not meet the definition of
“Restricted”.

ActivitiesActiv displaydisp informm
reparedred onon thethe “econom

rdingly,rdi all ofof thethe Authori
resourcesesources are includednclude

presentsnts changeshanges inin nene
whenwhen earnedned andand expepe

thethe relatedrelate cashh flow.fl

distinguishstinguish betweenbetween
e thosethose financednance through

areare usuallyusually reportedreported in
dd inin whole or inin partt thth
reportedrepor in propriero

53



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

19

Note 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fund Financial Statements

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement
focus. All governmental funds are accounted for using a current financial resources measurement focus
and have been prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., when they are
“measurable and available”). “Measurable” means the amount of the transaction that can be
determined and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to
pay liabilities of the current period.

The Authority considers all revenue available if it is collected within 60 days after the year end.
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred as under accrual accounting,
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and
claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Fund Accounting

The Authority uses funds to report on its financial position and the results of its operations. Fund
accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating
transactions relating to certain government functions or activities. A fund is a separate entity with a
self balancing set of accounts. The funds the Authority uses are described below:

General Fund The general fund is the general operating fund of the Authority. It accounts for all
activities except those required to be accounted for in other funds.

Capital Projects Fund The capital projects fund accounts for the construction of Authority’s projects
funded with bond proceeds. All capital funds have been fully expended as of June 30, 2020.

Debt Service Fund The debt service fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for
the payment of principal and interest on bonds issued by the Authority. City tax increments from
the expanded area of the TIRZ are pledged for the payment of principal and interest on the
Authority’s bonds.

Fund Balance Classification

The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on classifications that
comprise a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the Authority is bound to honor
constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the respective governmental funds can be
spent. The provision of GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type
Definitions, specifies the following classifications:

Nonspendable – amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form or
because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The Authority did not
have any nonspendable resources as of June 30, 2023.

DRAFTwithinwith 60
ss incurredincurred as un

uresures relatedl t d toto compe
ss due.due

inancialancial positionposi andand th
gal compliancempliance andand toto aidaid

mentment functionstions oro activiv
undsunds thethe AuthorityAuthority uses

al fundund isis thethe generalgeneral opop
requiredrequired too bebe accounted

undund The capitaltal projp ectect
roceeds.rocee All capitalap

debtdebt sese
dd

54



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

20

Note 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Restricted – amounts for which constraints have been placed on the use of the resources either (a)
externally imposed by creditors (such as through a debt covenant), grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation. Debt service resources are to be used for future servicing of the tax increment
contract revenue bonds and are restricted through debt covenants. Capital Projects resources are
also restricted through debt covenants.

Committed – amounts that can be used only for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed
by formal action of the Authority’s Board of Directors. These amounts cannot be used for any other
purpose unless the Board of Directors removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type
of action (resolution) that was employed when the funds were initially committed. This classification
also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources have been specifically
committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned – This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the Authority’s intent to be
used for a specific purpose but are neither restricted nor committed. This intent can be expressed
by the Board of Directors or through the Board of Directors delegating this responsibility to the
Authority’s Executive Director through the budgetary process. This classification also includes the
remaining positive fund balance for all governmental funds except for the General Fund.

Unassigned – This classification includes the residual fund balance for the General Fund.

The Authority would typically use restricted fund balances first, followed by committed resources, and
then assigned resources, as appropriate opportunities arise, but reserves the right to selectively spend
unassigned resources first to defer the use of these other classified funds.

Tax Increments and Participation Agreements

The City, Harris County (the County) and the Houston Independent School District (HISD) (each a
Participant) has agreed to deposit to the Tax Increment Fund established for the Main Street Market
Square TIRZ (the Tax Increment Fund) a certain percentage of tax collections arising from their taxation
of the increase, if any, in the appraised value of real property (Captured Appraised Value) located in the
Main Street Market Square TIRZ since January 1 of each respective year for the following areas within
the Zone:

1995 Original Area (Part A)
1998 Expanded Area (Part B)
2005 Expanded Area (Part D)
2011 Expanded Area (Part F)
2019 Expanded Area (Part G)
2022 Expanded Area (Part I)

DRAFT
nn

pecifiedpecif
ee initiallyinitia com

existingexisting resourcesres
rements.reme

hatat arear constrainedonstr by t
strictedd nornor committed.co

BoardBoa of Directorsrecto dele
the budgetarybudgetary process.cess

l governmentalnmental fundsfunds exe

includesincludes theth residualidu fun

y use restrictedrestricted fundfund balbal
asas appropriateappropriate opportunop

rstrst toto deferr thethe usee ofof th

ticipationticipa Agreemgree

ee CountCount
osiosi

55



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

21

Note 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The land annexed to the Zone in 2007 for Part E is all publicly owned and is not presently taxed.
Similarly, most of the land annexed in 2011 for Part F is publicly owned and only a small portion of the
property annexed by the Zone is subject to property tax. Part G de annexed the area known as Sam
Houston Park. It did not alter the project costs, goals or the Financial Plan for the Zone.

The amount of a Participant’s tax increment contribution for a year is the amount of property taxes
levied by the Participant for that year on the Captured Appraised Value of real property taxable by the
Participant and located in the Main Street Market Square TIRZ.

Tax Increments must be deposited into the Tax Increment Fund established for the Main Street Market
Square TIRZ no later than the 90th day after the delinquency date for the Participant’s property taxes.
Thus, Tax Increments are due to be deposited by May 1st annually.

The City has agreed to pay 100% of their Tax Increments into the Tax Increment Fund for all parts of the
Zone; however, the City is not obligated to pay to the Authority an amount that exceeds the budget
approved by City Council for the then current fiscal year. For purposes of Part A of the Zone,
Participants also include Harris County, Harris County Flood Control, Harris County Hospital District,
Harris County Port of Houston Authority (the County Authorities), and HISD. The County Authorities
have agreed to pay 100% of their Tax Increment to the Tax Increment Fund up to the earlier of the
collection of the Tax Year 2025 payment or payment of a total contribution of $8,500,000. The part A
cap for the County Authorities was reached in fiscal year 2018. HISD’s participation ends with the
collection of the Tax Year 2025 payment. In addition, Tax Increments arising from Part A of the Zone
are pledged to the payment of amounts due under an agreement among the TIRZ, the City and the
Houston Housing Finance Corporation (HHFC) dated September 11, 1996, as amended, to redevelop the
historic Rice Hotel into residential units. The HHFC loan was paid in full as of June 30, 2021.

The City and HISD are Participants in Part B of the Zone. The County Authorities do not participate in
Part B. HISD’s participation ends with the collection of the Tax Year 2025 payment.

In addition to the City, Participants in expanded Part D of the Zone (the two GreenStreet blocks) include
Harris County and Harris County Flood Control (the County Authorities). The County Authorities have
agreed to pay 51% of their Tax Increment to the Tax Increment Fund up to the earlier of the collection of
the Tax Year 2025 payment, payment of a total contribution of $8,500,000, or a maximum Captured
Appraised Value of $200,700,000 is reached. HISD does not participate in Part D. The City’s Tax
Increments are based on $.0231 per $100 valuation of the Captured Appraised Value for Part D of the
Zone rather than the current tax rate.

The City is the sole Participant in Part E, F, G and I of the Zone; however, as mentioned previously much
of the land included in these expansions is publicly owned and not subject to property tax.

The Authority is dependent upon Tax Increments. Default by any of the governmental entities involved
in the Zone would impact the Authority’s ability to repay its outstanding bonds and other obligations.

DRAFT
ablishedablis

ateate forfor the Par
ually.ually.

ss intointo the TaxT Incrementmen
thehe AuthorityAuthority an amou

fiscal year.year. For purp
ss CountyCount Floodod CoControl

the CountyCounty Authorities),Authorities)
ncrementnt tot thethe TaxTax InIn

mentment oror paymentpayment ofo a tot
asas reachedreached in fiscalsca ye

payment.payment. InIn addition,addition,
t of amountsmounts dued undeunde

CorporationCorporatio (HHFC)(HHF date
residentialresid units.units TheThe HHH

articipantsarticip inn PaP
endsends withwith

56



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

22

Note 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents and investments consist of demand and time deposits, money market
investments in U.S. Government Securities, and funds maintained in a public funds investment pool.

Investments consist of various U.S. Government securities and Local Government Investment
Cooperative (LOGIC), a local government investment pool created under the Interlocal Cooperation Act,
Chapter 791, Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas
Government Code. LOGIC is administered by First Southwest Asset Management, Inc. and JPMorgan
Chase Asset Management, Inc. LOGIC uses amortized costs to value portfolio assets and follows the
criteria for GASB Statement No. 79 for use of amortized cost.

Leases

Lease contracts that provide the Authority with control of a non financial asset for a period of time in
excess of twelve months are reported as a leased asset with a related lease liability in the government
wide financial statements. The lease liability is recorded at the present value of the future lease
payments. The leased asset is recorded for the same amount as the related lease liability plus any
prepayment and indirect cost to place the asset in service. Leased assets are amortized by the straight
line method over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term. The lease liability is
reduced for lease payments made, less the interest portion of the lease payment. In the fund financial
statements, the leased asset used in the governmental fund operations is accounted for as a capital
outlay expenditure of the appropriate governmental fund upon acquisition and the related lease liability
is reported as other financing sources.

Deferred Inflow of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the governmental funds balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred inflow of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflow of
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Authority has only one type of item,
which arises only under the modified accrual basis of accounting that qualifies for reporting in this
category. Accordingly, deferred tax increment and interest revenue are only reported in the
governmental funds balance sheet. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of
resources in the period the amounts become available.

Other Assets

Costs of issuance for the premiums on credit enhancement insurance related to the Tax Increment
Contract Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, are being amortized using the straight line method over the life of
the bonds in the government wide statements.

DRAFT
MaMa

luelue port

trolol ofof a nonnon financialf a
asset withwith aa related lea

y isis recordedre atat thet pr
or thehe samesame amountamount asa

he asset inin service.service. LeaseLeas
usefuluseful life ofof theth asse

,, lessless the interestinterest portiopo
seded inin thee governmentagovernmenta

propriateate governmentalgovernmental
cingcing sourcessource .

sourcessourc

governmegovernme
cesces

57



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

23

Note 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Debt

All debts to be repaid from governmental resources are reported as liabilities in the government wide
statements. Bonds payable consists of Tax Increment Contract Revenue Bonds.

Debt for the governmental funds is not reported as a liability in the fund financial statements. The debt
proceeds and premiums received are reported as other financing sources and payment of principal and
interest is reported as expenditures. Bond premiums are amortized over the life of the bonds using the
straight line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium. Debt issuance
costs, net of unamortized premiums for credit enhancement insurance, are reported as an expenditure.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Authority’s financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires the Authority’s management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Federal Income Tax

The Authority is exempt from Federal income taxes under section 501(a) as an organization described in
Section 501(c)3 of the Internal Revenue Code. Furthermore, the Internal Revenue Service has ruled that
the Authority is a publicly supported organization and is not a private foundation. Under the provisions
of Internal Revenue Procedure 95 48, the Authority is not required to file public information returns on
Form 990.

Note 3: AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS

The Board of Directors has adopted a written investment policy regarding the investments of its funds as
defined in the Public Funds Investment Act of 1997 (the Act) (Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code).
Such investments include (1) obligations of the United States or its agencies; (2) direct obligations of the
State of Texas or its agencies; (3) other obligations, the principal and interest of which are
unconditionally guaranteed or insured by or backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Texas or
the United States or their respective agencies; (4) certificates of deposit; (5) commercial paper that
complies with the Act; and (6) repurchase agreements that complies with the Act.

Note 4: DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the event of a bank failure,
the Authority’s deposits may not be returned to it. At June 30, 2023, bank balances totaled $2,498,292
at JP Morgan Chase and $5,620 at Bank of New York Mellon, which approximates fair value.

DRAFT
bleble

nce,nce, are

entsents in conformityco witwit
ca requiresrequires theth Authori

ts of assetssets andan liabilitie
all statementsstate andand the re

Actualal resultsresults couldcou differdiffe

ederaldera incomeome taxestaxes undund
al Revenueenue Code.Cod Furtheurthe

yy supportedsupported organizationorgani
ocedureoced 95 48,48, the AuthAut

MENTMENT

58



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

24

Note 4: DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

As of June 30, 2023, $2,248,292 of balance held at JP Morgan Chase was under collateralized due to
checks issued but not cleared.

In addition, on June 30, 2023, the Authority held $21,270,676 in an investment pool. The investment
pool is an eligible investment pursuant to the provision of the Public Funds Investment Act, the Tri Party
Agreement, and the Authority’s administrative policy. The debt service reserves of $8,579,606 have
been invested in the Morgan Stanley ILF Govt/Inst Money Market Fund, also an eligible investment
under the Texas Public Funds Investment Act and do not require collateralization.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. In accordance with the Authority’s investment policy, the Authority limits its exposure to
interest rate risk by structuring its portfolio to provide safety and liquidity of funds while maximizing
yields for operating funds not immediately needed. The investment policy limits the maximum maturity
on any investments to three (3) years. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the
magnitude of investment in a single issuer. The Authority’s investment policy does not limit the amount
of funds that may be invested in any authorized investment.

Investments that are obligations of or guaranteed by the U.S. Government do not require disclosure of
credit quality. The Authority’s money market funds are recorded at fair value and mature in less than
one year. The Authority’s investment in LOGIC fund, which is recorded at amortized cost, is rated AAAm
by Standard & Poors and maintains a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with a maximum
weighted average maturity of 13 months for any individual security. The Authority considers the
investments in LOGIC to have maturities of less than one year due to the fact the share position can
usually be redeemed each day at the discretion of the Authority, unless there has been a significant
change in value.

Note 5: RESTRICTED ASSETS

Certain amounts of cash and investments are restricted by covenants set forth in the indenture for the
Series 2012 and 2015 Bonds. A summary of these restricted assets held in cash and U.S. Government
Securities on June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Cash and Cash Money
Equivalents Market Fund Total

Debt service funds 5,620$ 8,579,606$ 8,585,226$

DRAFT
adverseladve

icy,icy, thethe Autho
tyty andan liquidityquidi of fu

vestmentvestm policycy limitslim th
ofof creditcre riskris is the riskrisk

hority’srity’s investmentvestm policy
vestment.nt.

anteeded byby thethe U.S.U. GoveGov
arket fundsnds areare recorderecorde

inin LOGICLOGIC fund,d, whichwh is
nsns aa weightedht averageerag

1313 monthsmonths forfor anyany indind
ve maturitiesurities of less thatha

hh dayday atat thethe discretiondisc

59



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

25

Note 6: CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of changes in capital assets during 2023 is as follows:

Balance at Balance at
July 1, 2022 Additions Retirements June 30, 2023

Right to use land 9,579,411$ $ $ 9,579,411$
Right to use office space 2,186,574 2,186,574

Total capital assets 11,765,985 11,765,985
Less: accumulated amortization (588,157) (588,157) (1,176,314)

11,177,828$ (588,157)$ $ 10,589,671$

Amortization expense for the year ended June 30, 2023 totaled $588,157 and is reported as capital
outlay expenses in the accompanying statement of activities.

Note 7: TAX INCREMENT CONTRACT REVENUE BONDS

A summary of changes in Tax Increment Contract Revenue Bonds follows:

Balance at July 1, 2022 44,350,000$
Additions
Retirements (2,180,000)
Balance at June 30, 2023 42,170,000

Current portion 2,250,000$

Tax Increment Contract Revenue Bonds on June 30, 2023 consist of the following:

Outstanding
Date Series Issued Balance

2012 1,440,000$
2015 40,730,000

Total principal payable 42,170,000
Unamortized premium 2,640,493

Total bonds payable 44,810,493$

DR2323 DRAFT
8,157)8,157

(588,157)(588,157) $$TTFTFT20232023 totaleded $588,157
activities.ities.

NUE BONDSBON

entent ContractContra Revenueeve B

DRDRDD

60



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

26

Note 7: TAX INCREMENT CONTRACT REVENUE BONDS (Continued)

In May of 2015, the Authority issued $41,505,000 in Tax Increment Contract Revenue Bonds (Series
2015 Bonds). The bonds were issued at a premium of $4,462,805 and have a series of maturities from
2022 through 2035. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Authority incurred $775,000 and $1,726,577
in principal and interest (net of insurance amortization), respectively, and amortized $30,214 in issuance
costs.

Bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2016, are subject to redemption at the option of the Authority
at a price equal to par value plus accrued interest. Additional insurance premiums are required if these
bonds are not redeemed beginning in 2026. The Series 2015 Bonds bear interest at rates between 4%
and 5%, resulting in an average interest rate of 4.14% and have semi annual interest payments due
March 1 and September 1.

Principal and interest payments are due as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2024 810,000$ 1,917,550$ 2,727,550$
2025 2,340,000 1,814,651 4,154,651
2026 2,635,000 1,685,281 4,320,281
2027 2,770,000 1,553,436 4,323,436
2028 2,910,000 1,416,036 4,326,036
2029 2033 16,950,000 4,759,785 21,709,785
2034 2036 12,315,000 700,289 13,015,289

40,730,000$ 13,847,028$ 54,577,028$

In June 2012, the Authority issued Tax Increment Contract Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2012 (the
2012 Bonds) in the aggregate principal amount of $22,745,000. The 2012 Bonds mature serially
September 1, in each year 2012 through 2023. The 2012 Bonds are callable in whole or in part any date
beginning September 1, 2021 at par. The 2012 Bonds bear interest at 2.49% and have semi annual
interest payments due on March 1 and September 1. The Authority incurred in $1,405,000 and $44,602
in principal and interest expense, respectively.

Net proceeds from the Series 2012 Bonds totaling $22,057,231 along with $3,048,351 from the
Authority’s debt service and debt service reserve accounts were used to refund the Series 2002A and
Series 2009 Bonds with a total principal amount of $26,345,000 and an average interest rate of 5.7%.
The net proceeds were deposited into an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for the debt
service payments on the refunded bonds. Debt service on the refunded bonds was paid in full on June
13, 2012. The refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the next 12 years
by $2,067,006 and resulted in an economic gain of $982,679.

DRAFT
810,00081$

2,340,02,340,
2,632,6
2AFT

eaea
semisem an

Principal IPrincipa

AFT
AFT

DRDRDRDyy issuedissued TaxTax
tete prpr

61



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

27

Note 7: TAX INCREMENT CONTRACT REVENUE BONDS (Continued)

Principal and interest payments are due as follows:

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2024 1,440,000$ 5,976$ 1,445,976$

1,440,000$ 5,976$ 1,445,976$

The Series 2015 issuance required a Debt Service Reserve Fund in the amount of $4,365,400 in addition
to the Debt Service Fund of $4,273,781 required at June 30, 2021 for short term principal and interest
payments due on both the 2015 and 2012 bond obligations. The Debt Service Fund was fully funded in
July 2021 with receipt of the City’s tax increment.

Note 8: LEASES

On April 14, 2018, a ground lease agreement was executed between the Legacy Trust Company, N.A.,
Successor Trustee of the Anna B. Williams Combined Trust, Legare H. Bethea Combined Trust and Shirley
B. Morgan Combined Trust, and Broadway National Bank, Successor Trustee of the Legare H. Bethea
Trust “L” (the Lessors), and the Authority. The ground lease covers 44,878 square feet (approximately ¾
block) of land in the southern portion of downtown bounded by Fannin, Leeland, Bell, and San Jacinto
Streets. The lease commenced on April 1, 2019, with a 30 year term. At the commencement date, the
Authority began payment of rent of $29,666 per month which is subject to a 10% escalation once every
five years. The Authority has two renewal options of ten years each. The Authority is not reasonably
certain the renewal options will be exercised. The Authority is currently in the process of constructing
improvements on the property to convert the site to a public park. In accordance with the terms of the
lease agreement, these improvements will automatically pass to the lessor without payment or
consideration of any kind upon expiration or termination of this agreement.

At the time of the initial measurement, there was no interest rate specified in the original lease
agreement. The Authority has used the Authority’s estimated incremental borrowing rate of 2.09% to
discount the annual lease payments to recognize the leased asset (right to use land) and the related
lease liability as of July 1, 2021 totaling $9,579,411. At June 30, 2023 the balance on the lease liability
totaled $9,243,845.

The principal and interest payments of $161,609 and $195,031, respectively, for the year ended June 30,
2023 have been reported as capital outlay and interest expense, respectively, in the accompanying
governmental funds revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances.

DRAFT
ee amam
forfor short

hehe DebtDebt ServiceS

t waswas executedexec betweenbetw
Combinedine Trust,Trust, LegareLegare

dwayway Nationonalal Bank,Ban SucSuc
ority.ority. TheThe groundund lease

ortionortion of downtownowntown bounbo
d onn AprilApr 1,1, 2019,2019, withwith

f rentrent of $29,666$29,6 per mo
tyty hashas twotwo renewalrenewal optio

ptionsption will be exercisedexercised
propertyprope to convertnv

improvementimprovemen
nn expiraexpira

62



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

28

Note 8: LEASES (Continued)

On February 13, 2020, a lease agreement was executed between Zions Bancorporation, N.A., a national
banking association, d/b/a Amegy Bank and the Authority. The lease covers the 10th floor of the Amegy
Bank building located at 1801 Main Street of 16,982 square feet of rented space to be an Innovation
Hub known as the Downtown Launchpad. The lease commenced on June 19, 2020, with a 10 year term.
At the commencement date, the Authority began payment of rent of $15.31 base rent per square foot
(lease payment) plus a proportionate share of building operating expenses (non lease component). In
accordance with GASB 87, the non lease components have been excluded in the measurement of the
lease liability. There is no escalation of the base rent. The Authority has an option for one renewal term
of five years. The Authority is not reasonably certain this renewal option will be exercised. The Authority
also has licensing agreements with its partners in the innovation hub: MassChallenge, Gener8tor, Impact
Hub and The Cannon, who will occupy space within the Downtown Launchpad.

At the time of the initial measurement, there was no interest rate specified in the original lease
agreement. The Authority has used the Authority’s estimated incremental borrowing rate of 1.54% to
discount the annual lease payments to recognize the leased asset (right to use office space) and the
related lease liability as of July 1, 2021 totaling $2,186,574. At June 30, 2023 the balance on the lease
liability totaled $1,723,954. The principal and interest payments of $231,510 and $28,490, respectively,
for the year ended June 30, 2023 have been reported as capital outlay and interest expense,
respectively, in the accompanying governmental funds revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balances.

Annual requirements to amortize the lease liabilities and related interest are as follows:

For the years ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 408,374$ 216,518$ 624,892$
2025 442,703 208,888 651,591
2026 450,710 200,882 651,592
2027 458,864 192,727 651,591
2028 467,170 184,421 651,591

2029 2033 1,842,037 802,346 2,644,383
2034 2038 1,700,281 636,540 2,336,821
2039 2043 2,133,355 437,148 2,570,503
2044 2048 2,638,686 188,868 2,827,554

2049 425,619 3,721 429,340

10,967,799$ 3,072,059$ 14,039,858$

DRDRAFT
onon

b:b: MassCMa
wnwn Launchpad.Laun

interestinter rate specifiedspec
imatedimat incrementalcremental borbo

he leasedleas assetasse (right to
$2,186,574.574. AtAt June 30, 2

nterestnteres paymentsents of $23
beeneen reportedreported ass caca

ernmentalal fundsfunds revenurevenu

e thethe leasee liabilitiesliabilities andand

30,30,

DRDR

63



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

29

Note 8: LEASES (Continued)

A summary of changes in the Authority’s lease liabilities follows:

Balance at July 1, 2022 11,360,918$
Additions
Retirements (393,119)

Balance at June 30, 2023 10,967,799$

Current portion, lease liabilities 408,374$

Note 9: FUND BALANCES – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

As of June 30, 2023, fund balances of the governmental funds are classified as follows:

Debt
General Service
Fund Fund Total

Restricted for
Debt service $ 8,585,226$ 8,585,226$

Committed to
Roadways and streets 40,163 40,163
Infrastructure/mobility 2,500,000 2,500,000
Real property improvements 5,010,000 5,010,000
Historic preservation 469,963 469,963
Parks and recreation 2,387,346 2,387,346
Retail/economic development 6,764,932 6,764,932

Assigned to
Historic preservation 1,000,000 1,000,000
Infrastructure mobility improvement 143,000 143,000

Unassigned 512,071 512,071

18,827,475$ 8,585,226$ 27,412,701$

DRAF
$

ementsemen

entent

AFTTTalal fundsfun aree classifiedcl ass ff

GeneralGen
FundFundAFAF

64



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

30

NOTE 10: TAX INCREMENTS

The Authority’s tax increment revenue, as reflected in the Statement of Activities, was received from the
following Participants:

Gross Administrative Educational Net
Increment Fee Facilities Increments

City of Houston 19,065,040$ (953,252)$ $ 18,111,788$
Houston Independent
School District 4,946,972 (25,000) (1,922,208) 2,999,764
Harris County 144,175 (7,209) 136,966

Total tax increments 24,156,187$ (985,461)$ (1,922,208)$ 21,248,518$

Transfers

The Authority’s tax increment revenues, as reflected in the governmental funds, was received from the
following Participants:

Gross Administrative Educational Net
Increment Fee Facilities Increments

City of Houston 19,065,040$ (953,252)$ $ 18,111,788$
Houston Independent
School District 4,946,972 (25,000) (1,922,208) 2,999,764
Harris County 310,642 (15,532) 295,110

Total tax increments 24,322,654$ (993,784)$ (1,922,208)$ 21,406,662$

Transfers

Note 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Authority has entered into various developer agreements whereby the developers agreed to
advance money to renovate and operate historic structures, construct retail and residential
improvements and other projects. All property is owned by the developers.

Municipal Service Costs Agreement

The Authority, the Zone, and the City entered into an agreement whereby the Authority will pay to the
City incremental costs of providing increased municipal services incurred as a result of the creation of
the Zone or the development or redevelopment of the land in the Zone. Payment of the incremental
service costs is from the City’s Tax Increment and is limited to the available Tax Increment received by
the Authority as defined in the agreement and the amount included in the Authority’s annual approved
budget. If the City’s available Tax Increment is not sufficient in any year to pay the amount included in
the approved budget, the amount due will accrue without interest. The agreement renews annually on
June 30.

DRA19,065,04019,065,0$$

4,94RAFT
5,000)5,000
(7,209)(7,2(7,209)(7,2

(985,461)461)$$ (1,922$TTFTFTinn thethe governmentalovern fun

Gross AdminGross Admin
IncrementrementAFAF
RARA

DRDRDDCOCO

65



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

31

Note 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Buffalo Bayou Partnership

In January 2012, the Authority, Buffalo Bayou Partnership (the Partnership), Harris County Flood Control
District and the City entered into a project facilities agreement. The Authority is obligated under this
agreement for start up costs totaling $581,000 and annual City Project Facility Fees (annual fee) through
December 31, 2043. The annual fee is $2,063,653 and is increased annually based on increases in the
Employment Cost Index. Payments are made semi annually no later than January 10 and July 10 of
each calendar year. The Park opened in October 2015, and payment of the annual fee commenced in
January 2016. Fiscal year 2019 marked the first review of operating and maintenance expenditures as
required in the agreement. No changes were made to the calculation of the Authority’s annual
payment; however, the park was severely damaged by Hurricane Harvey and the Authority agreed to
provide a one time payment of $375,000 to the Buffalo Bayou Partnership to replenish the Capital
Maintenance Fund which had been completely depleted for the repairs to the park after Hurricane
Harvey.

Downtown Living Initiative

In 2012, the Authority created a program called the Downtown Living Initiative (DLI) which was designed
to incentivize residential development in the Zone. Developers were eligible to receive a rebate equal to
75% of the incremental City of Houston ad valorem taxes generated by the project upon completion for
a fifteen year period up to a maximum of $15,000 per residential unit. The program was closed in
accordance with the ordinance which created it on June 30, 2016.

Seven Downtown Living Initiative agreements were executed from the program’s inception in 2012
through the end of fiscal year 2016. The first grant was approved by the Authority under this program
to SkyHouse Houston for development of a 24 story, 336 unit high rise residential tower on Block 350.
The maximum grant available for this project over the term of the grant is approximately $5 million.
Construction was completed on this project, and it opened in 2014. The ninth installment under the
grant was accrued in fiscal year 2023.

A second grant was approved under the Downtown Living Initiative and a historic preservation grant
was given to Rusk at San Jacinto Partners, LP for redevelopment of the 97 year old Texas Company
building at 1111 Rusk aka “The Star” into 286 luxury apartment units. The maximum grant available for
this project over the term of the grant is approximately $12.1 million. The project was completed in
2017. The sixth installment under the grant was estimated and accrued in fiscal year 2023.

A third grant was approved under the Downtown Living Initiative to Alliance Realty Partners, LLC for a
207 unit midrise multifamily residential building located on Block 334. The maximum grant available for
this project over the term of the grant is approximately $3.1 million. The project was completed in 2016.
The seventh installment under the grant was accrued in fiscal year 2023.

DRAFT
anan

lculationlcula
nene HarveyHarv and

ayouayou Partnershiprtner to
forfor the repairsirs toto the

lled thethe DowntownDowntow LivinLivi
the Zone.e. DevelopersDevelopers ww

onon adad valoremvalorem taxestax gen
ximumximu off $15,000$15,000 perp

whichwhich createdated itit onon JuneJune

InitiativeInitiative agreementsagreeme w
calcal yeary 2016.6. TheT firstfirst
forfor developmentdevelopment of a

ilableilable for thishis p
dd onon thisthis

202202

66



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

32

Note 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

A fourth grant was authorized in 2014 under the Downtown Living Initiative program for development of
a 33 story, 274 unit high rise residential tower by Hines at Market Square Park aka Aris Market Square,
which completed construction in 2018. The maximum grant available for this project over the term of
the grant is approximately $4.1 million. The fifth installment under the grant was accrued in fiscal year
2023.

A fifth grant was approved under the Downtown Living Initiative to BMS Market Square, now
Woodbranch Tower aka Market Square Tower, for development of a 40 story, 463 unit high rise
residential building which completed construction in 2016. The maximum grant available for this project
over the term of the grant is approximately $6.9 million. The seventh installment under the grant was
paid in fiscal year 2023.

A sixth grant was approved under this program to SkyHouse Main for the development of a 338 unit
high rise residential tower on block 368. The maximum grant available for this project over the term of
the grant is approximately $5 million. The project was completed in 2016. The seventh installment
under the grant was accrued in fiscal year 2023.

A seventh grant was approved by the Authority under this program to FF Realty II LLC for the
development of a 290 unit midrise residential tower on block 387. The maximum grant available for this
project over the term of the grant is approximately $4.4 million. The project was completed in 2022 and
will be eligible for its first grant in 2024.

1616 Main Street/Holiday Inn Hotel

The Authority entered into an economic development agreement with HDT Hotel, LLC for renovation of
the former Savoy Hotel. The Authority has reimbursed $500,000 in street level improvements and will
provide an incremental tax rebate over a 10 year period for development of a full service 213 room
Holiday Inn at 1616 Main. The project was completed in the fall of 2015. The total amount of
incremental tax rebate is estimated to be $5 million over the term of the grant.

806 Main/JW Marriott Hotel

The Authority entered into an agreement with Pearl Hospitality to reimburse up to $2.3 million in
infrastructure improvements and to provide an incremental tax rebate over a 25 year period for
development of a 323 room JW Marriott hotel at 806 Main on the corner of Main and Rusk. The project
completed construction and the infrastructure payment was made during the fiscal year 2015. The total
amount of incremental tax rebate is capped at $9.5 million over the term of the grant.

DRAFT
uu

nthnth instin

useuse MainM for thethe develo
grantgrant available for thisthis p

waswas completedplet in 20166

uthorityority underund thishis propr
ntial towerwe onn blockblock 387.387.

pproximatelypproximately $4.4$4.4 million
024.024.

Hotelel

toto anan economiceconomic developdev
tel.el. TheT Authorityority hass rere
ll taxtax rebate overove a

n.n. TheT projeproj
matedmated tt

67



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

33

Note 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

GreenStreet/Hotel Alessandra

The Hotel Alessandra is a 227 room luxury hotel constructed as an addition to the GreenStreet project.
The Authority entered into an economic development agreement with HA Hotel Partners, LP to rebate
50% of the annual incremental City of Houston ad valorem taxes from the project for a 10 year period.
The hotel was completed and opened in October 2017.

The hotel was required to create at least twenty five new full time jobs and 6,016 square feet of retail
space for soft goods in order to receive the rebate. The hotel closed during 2021, reopened as Hotel
Laura, and became eligible for the rebate in 2023. The fourth installment of the rebate was accrued in
fiscal year 2023.

723 Main/AC Hotel

In June 2016 the Authority entered into an Economic Development Agreement with Supreme Bright
Houston, LLC for the development of a 194 room the AC Hotel located at 723 Main Street. The grant is a
reimbursement of 50% of the City portion of the incremental ad valorem taxes for a time period of ten
years or an amount not to exceed $1,171,750. The terms require the creation of at least fifty new full
time jobs and that the project retain the Marriott flag or equivalent. Construction was completed and
the hotel opened in July 2019.

MassChallenge

In November 2018, the Authority board approved an economic development agreement with
MassChallenge in the amount of $2.5 million over five years. MassChallenge is a global non profit
startup accelerator with a focus on high impact early stage entrepreneurs. MassChallenge did not
comply with the requirements of the economic development agreement by changing its platform as a
result of COVID to virtual and no longer utilized the Downtown Launchpad as mandated by the
agreement to focus on development of early stage entrepreneurs in Downtown Houston. The fifth
payment of $404,000 was not made.

Gener8tor

In September of 2019, the Authority board approved an economic development agreement with
Gener8tor in the amount of $1.25 million over five years. Gener8tor is a nationally recognized pre
accelerator, specializing in translating ideas into start up businesses. The Authority paid the fourth
installment of its grant in fiscal year 2023.

lmentlmen

micc DevelopmentDevelopme Agreem
he AC HotelHotel locatedlo at 7

hehe incrementalincremental adad valore
50. TheThe termsterms requirerequire th

Marriotttt flagflag oror equivalequiva

AuthorityAuthorit boardboa appr
amountamo off $2.5$2. millionmillio

withwith a focus onn highh imi
mentsment of thee ecoe

andand nono lol
opmeopme

68



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

34

Note 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Post HTX

In November 2018, the Authority board approved an economic development agreement with 401
Franklin St., LTD for restoration and redevelopment of the Barbara Jordon Post Office building to
develop a mixed use project called Post HTX. The agreement provides a 75% rebate of the annual
incremental City of Houston ad valorem taxes from the project up to a maximum amount of $23 million.
Construction was completed in December 2021. The first rebate payment was accrued in fiscal year
2023.

Lynn Wyatt Square for the Performing Arts

The Authority has pledged a total of $10 million in funding support to Houston First Corporation for the
redevelopment of Jones Plaza into the Lynn Wyatt Square for the Performing Arts. The total project cost
is estimated to be $28 million. Fundraising for the project currently stands at $26.6 million and it began
construction in May of 2021. Lynn Wyatt Square is scheduled to open in the fall of 2023.

Buffalo Bayou Partnership Hike & Bike Trails East of Allen’s Landing

The Buffalo Bayou Partnership and the Houston Parks Board are expanding the trail system along the
bayou on the north side of downtown east of Allen’s Landing, including blocks 6 and 7, purchased by the
City. In February 2019 the Authority board agreed to provide financial support for construction in the
amount of $2 million over two years. The project has been delayed due to the subsidence of the bayou
and environmental issues.

Consultants

The Authority has entered into agreements with various consultants to provide professional services.

Note 12: ADMINISTRATIVE AGREEMENT

The Authority has entered into an administrative agreement with Central Houston, Inc. for executive
management, general administrative support, project management and development, construction
management and other services as may be deemed necessary by the Authority’s Board of Directors in
the course of its various activities. The Authority paid Central Houston, Inc. $758,870 for these services
for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Note 13: RISK MANAGEMENT

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; personal injuries; and natural disasters. The risk of loss is covered by
commercial insurance. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage and no
settlements.

upportuppor to HoustonHou Fi
forfor theth Performingming Arts.

ectect currentlycurrentl stands atat $2$
hedulededule too openop in the f

stst ofof Allen’sA Landingandin

Houston ParksParks BoardBoard arar
easteast ofof Allen’sn’s Landing,La

rityrity boardboard agreeda toto pro
years.ears. Thee projectproject hashas bb

dd intointo agreemeneme

69



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION OTHER THAN
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

DRAFTATIONATION OTHEROT T
NDND TSUPPLEMENTARYSUPPLEMEN

70



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Change in Fund Balance –
Budget to Actual – All Funds (Unaudited)

35

For the year ended June 30, 2023

Original and
final budgeted

amounts

Actual amounts
(budgetary

basis)
Variance with
final budget

Budgetary fund balance beginning of year 21,839,949$ 28,952,025$ 7,112,076$

Resources
Tax increments 29,544,001 24,322,654 (5,221,347)
Miscellaneous revenue 168 168
Interest income 25,000 636,460 611,460

Total available resources 51,408,950 53,911,307 2,502,357

Expenses
Management consulting services 807,500 779,096 28,404
Project costs and capital expenditures 12,739,126 16,504,438 (3,765,312)
Debt service 4,193,398 4,416,919 (223,521)
Other interfund transfers:
HISD educational facilities 4,580,001 1,922,208 2,657,793
Municipal services public safety 2,045,000 1,882,161 162,839
Administrative fees 1,126,225 993,784 132,441

Total uses of resources 25,491,250 26,498,606 (1,007,356)

Budgetary fund balance end of year 25,917,700$ 27,412,701$ 1,495,001$

Explanation of differences between budgetary inflows and outflows and
GAAP revenues and expenses

Sources/inflows of resources:
Actual amounts (budgetary basis) 53,911,307$
Differences budget to GAAP
The fund balance at the beginning of the year is a budgetary resource
current year revenue for financial reporting purposes (28,952,025)

Budgeted revenues include HISD educational facilities transfers and City administrative
charges while the Authority's funds report revenues net of these transfers (2,915,992)

Total revenues as reported on the statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances 22,043,290$

Uses/outflows of resources
Actual amounts (budgetary basis) 26,498,606$
Differences budget to GAAP
Budgeted expenditures include HISD educational facilities transfers and city administrative
charges while the Authority's funds report revenues net of these transfers (2,915,992)

Total expenditures as reported on the statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances 23,582,614$

DRAgetaryetary inflowsws andand outflowsoutflows ana

basis)basis)
AAPAAP
eginningeginni of the yearear is

nancialnancia reportingorting
DD educationeducation

dsds rere

RAFAFT807,500807,50
12,739,1269,126 16,
4,193,39898

4,580,001
2,045,0
1,12

T
1,408,951,408,

TT
AFAF

RARARARA

71



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Schedule of Operating Expenses and Capital Expenditures

36

For the year ended June 30, 2023 Vendor Budget
Actual

Expenditures Variance

Management Consulting Services

Administrative Support Central Houston, Inc. 700,000$ 690,945$ 9,055$
Office Expenses Various 7,500 37,954 (30,454)
Insurance W. M. Jones & Company 36,500 5,280 31,220
Accounting TNC CPAs 2,500 2,500
Auditor Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC 18,000 19,228 (1,228)
Bond Trustee Services Bank of New York Mellon 10,000 3,180 6,820
Financial Advisor Masterson Advisors, LLC 5,000 3,500 1,500
Taxroll Advisor (ITM) ITM Services 10,000 3,640 6,360

Total administration and overhead 789,500 763,727 25,773

Legal Bracewell & Giuliani LLP 18,000 15,369 2,631

Total management consulting services 807,500$ 779,096$ 28,404$

Capital Expenditures and Developer/Project Reimbursements

Developer/Project Reimbursements:

Aris Market Square Residential HMMarket Square, LLC 478,683$ 427,508$ 51,175$

Buffalo Bayou Park Buffalo Bayou Partnership 2,618,719 2,706,949 (88,230)

The Star Residential Rusk@San Jacinto Partners, LP 407,571 337,569 70,002

806 Main (JW Marriott) 806 Main Hotel, LLC 260,344 142,723 117,621

Downtown Living Initiative Central Houston, Inc. 19,379 (19,379)

Economic Development Retail Central Houston, Inc. 60,000 118,684 (58,684)

SkyHouse Houston Residential SPSU9 North Tower 312,996 242,926 70,070

SkyHouse Main Residential SPSU9 South Tower 324,395 243,726 80,669

Block 334 Residential Fairflield Block 334, LP 198,710 153,552 45,158

Market Square Tower Residential Woodbranch Tower LLC 720,688 613,712 106,976

DRAFT
Marketrket Square,Square, LLCLLC

Buffalo Bayouou PartnershipPartnership

Rusk@SanRusk@San Jacintoo PartnersPa

806806 MainMain HotelHotel

CentralC H

ailail CenCen

FT807,50080$ $T
7

18,00TTFTFT

72



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Schedule of Operating Expenses and Capital Expenditures (Continued)

37

For the year ended June 30, 2023 Vendor Budget
Actual

Expenditures Variance

Hotel Alessandra/Laura HA Hotel Partners, LP 73,976$ 56,032$ 17,944$

1616 Main (Holiday Inn Hotel) HDT Hotel, LLC 29,392 23,274 6,118

Fairfield Residential Central Houston, Inc. 283,506 283,506

Hike and Bike Trails East of Allens Landing Buffalo Bayou Partnership 1,000,000 448,719 551,281

Mass Challenge Mass Challenege, Inc. 404,000 404,000

Post HTX 401 Franklin Street, LTD. 425,000 344,032 80,968

Future Project Development 1,000,000 54,429 945,571

Gener8tor Gener8tor Management, LLC 250,000 250,000

723 Main (Marriott AC Collection Hotel) Supreme Bright Houston, LLC 17,326 27,334 (10,008)

Downtown Innovation Hub Amegy Bank Operating Expenses 497,820 408,538
Central Houston, Inc. 109,213

Total Downtown Innovation Hub 497,820 517,751 (19,931)

Total Developer/ Project Reimbursements $ 9,363,126 $ 6,728,299 $ 2,634,827

Capital Improvement Projects:
T 0307 Trebly Park (Southern Downtown Structura, Inc. 627,002$
Pocket Park) Central Houston, Inc. 208,569

Legacy Trust Rent 111,824
Ann Harris Bennett Property Tax 103,801

Renfrow Metalsmiths, LLC 85,027
Project Surveillance, Inc. 67,305

Core Design Studio 54,237
Broadway Bank Rent 49,137
W.M. Jones & Co., Inc. 22,840
Weingarten Art Group 15,000

Instituform Technologies 8,000
Strategic Coating Solutions 8,000
Wakefield AV & Cabling, LLC 5,650

Bega US Inc 3,683
Bartlett Tree Experts 3,168

Alpha Testing 2,650
CW Lighting 2,332

Reign Home Innovations 2,170
Gurrola Reprographics Inc. 90

Corner Bakery Café 88
Houston Downtown Management District 27

Total T 0307 Trebly Park (Southern Downtown Pocket Park) 1,456,000$ 1,380,600$ 75,400$

DRAFT425,01,000,0001,000

ement,ement LLC 250,00

right Houston,n LLCLLC

y Bank OperatingOperating ExpensesExpenses
Central Houston,Houston, Inc.In

sements

s:s:
nn DowntownDow RARARRDRDR

73



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Schedule of Operating Expenses and Capital Expenditures (Continued)

38

For the year ended June 30, 2023 Vendor Budget
Actual

Expenditures Variance

T 0308 Jones Plaza Central Houston, Inc. $ 7,485,490$ (7,485,490)$

T 0319 Allen Parkway Houston Downtown Management District 150,000 149,145 855

T 0325 Bagby Street Main Lane Industries 452,599
Central Houston, Inc 42,175
Centerpoint Energy (28,360)

Houston Downtown Management District 3,014
Quiddity Engineering 1,964

ASCE Texas 900

Total T 0325 Bagby Street 472,292 (472,292)

T 0326 NHHIP Civic Opportunities Central Houston Civic Improvement 250,000 250,000

T 0337 Montrose Bridge at Allen Parkway 1,000,000 1,000,000

T 0340 Targeted Blight Remediation AECOM Technical Services 26,250
Ryan M. LeVasseur 10,000
The Business Journal 1,056

Houston Defender Network 706
Southern Chinese Daily News 600

Total T 0340 Targeted Blight Remediation 500,000 38,612 461,388

T 0399 Concrete Panel Replacement 20,000 20,000

Total capital expenditures 3,376,000 9,776,139 (6,400,139)

Total capital expenditures and developer/project reimbursements 12,739,126$ 16,504,438$ (3,765,312)$
DRRemediationRemediation

ementement DRAFTc ImprovementImprovement 250,

AECOM Technicalechnical ServicesServices
RyanRy M. LeVasseurLeVas
TheThe Businessess JournaJo

Houstonouston DefenderDefender N
SouthernSout ChinesChines

TTT

DRDRDDDD

74



Main Street Market Square Redevelopment Authority
d/b/a Downtown Redevelopment Authority

Schedule of Estimated Project Costs to Actual Costs
July 6, 1999 (Date of Inception) through June 30, 2023

39

Estimated Total Remaining
Total Costs Expenditures Balance

Project costs
Infrastructure improvements
Roadways and streets 47,500,000$ 64,754,426$ (17,254,426)$
Infrastructure, mobility, transit improvements 43,334,450 27,751,507 15,582,943

Total Infrastructure improvements 90,834,450 92,505,933 (1,671,483)

Real property improvements 57,520,266 23,623,604 33,896,662
Parking facilities 10,156,417 10,156,417
Historic preservation improvements 26,351,008 17,670,022 8,680,986
Parks and recreational 273,044,167 17,548,028 255,496,139
Theater district improvements 11,504,799 14,610,972 (3,106,173)
Cultural and public facility improvements 10,000,000 1,503,555 8,496,445
Economic development programs 166,800,000 53,773,464 113,026,536
Institutional facilities 22,000,000 10,678,800 11,321,200

Total project costs 668,211,107 231,914,378 436,296,729

Operating and financing costs
Financing costs 48,930,000 29,006,381 19,923,619
Administration 16,934,426 8,007,439 8,926,987

Total operating and financing costs 65,864,426 37,013,820 28,850,606

Educational facilities 82,541,820 52,471,417 30,070,403

Project plan total 816,617,353$ 321,399,615$ 495,217,738$

(a) Costs for the life of the Zone as provided in the Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan.
This includes costs for both original and annexed areas in the Zone. The estimated total costs are
reported based on the Authority’s 8th Amendment to the Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing
Plan that was approved by City Council in December 2022.

DRAFT
417417

51,00851,008 1
3,044,1673,044,167 17,54
11,504,79911,5 14,610
10,000,00010,000 11

166,800,0006,800,
22,000,00022,0

668,211,1668,211,

inging costscosts

AFAF
RRDDDD

75



Page 1DRA Discussion October 2023 

DISCLAIMER

This presentation is specifically prepared for the City of Houston Downtown Redevelopment Authority (DRA) Board. 

The recommendations included are specific to DRA’s capacity and authority and are intended as a guide for DRA’s decisions.

76



Downtown Houston
Office Conversion Study

Downtown Redevelopment Authority Board Meeting

October 10, 2023

77



Page 3DRA Discussion October 2023 

Agenda

1 Context

2 Methodology

3 Building Concepts

4 Feasibility Summary

5 Policy Recommendations

6 Next Steps

Hunter Gillaspie
Senior Analyst,

Economics

Chris Law
Manager,

Economics

78



Page 4DRA Discussion October 2023 

Follow-up to June presentation with purpose of recommending policy approach that supports 
office-to-residential conversion in Downtown Houston

Last Time (June 13, 2023)

• Introduction to consulting team and scope

• Downtown market analysis

• Building conversion scoring analysis

• Selection of three concept buildings

This Time (October 10, 2023)

• Test fits for three conversion concept buildings

• Key factors affecting feasibility

• Financial feasibility model results

• Recommendations

Property Address Built RBA (SF)
Total 

Score

1021 Main St 1960 608,660 26 

919 Milam St 1956 542,078 25 

708 Main St 1923 98,253 24 

808 Travis St 1941 599,107 23 

1415 Louisiana St 1983 520,602 22 

800 Bell St 1962 1,314,350 22 

700 Milam St 1975 694,021 22 

1001 Texas Ave 1982 119,436 21 

1010 Lamar St 1981 277,991 21 

1600 Smith St 1984 1,098,399 21 

1301 Fannin St 1983 369,486 21 

1001 McKinney St 1947 375,440 20 

440 Louisiana St 1983 379,382 20 

1331 Lamar St 1983 985,896 20 

In response to high office vacancy and potential fiscal impact, City leadership requested study of potential office conversion program in 
Downtown Houston, including current state of market and potential incentive structures.

79



Page 5DRA Discussion October 2023 

To avoid future property tax losses and increase downtown residency, City should create a suite 
of office-to-residential tools and incentives that builds upon prior new construction program

Real estate market has not addressed these challenges due to several unique characteristics of downtown Houston office stock:

C
o

m
p

li
c

a
ti

o
n

Post-pandemic telework and migration patterns have led to increasing office vacancy in downtown Houston, with 30% of square 
footage currently available; risk that property tax revenue will not just stagnate but significantly decrease as office values decline 

P
ro

b
le

m
S

o
lu

ti
o

n

City can address current private funding gap for most office buildings by creating program with the following components:

• Offer annual reimbursement for 100% of incremental tax revenues for 30 years based on 2023 assessed value

• Seek Harris County participation which increases available base from 28% to 51% of taxes

• Consider integrating adjacent TIRZ districts into shared program to facilitate larger downtown initiative

• Provide technical assistance to streamline permitting and access additional funding sources

Larger floor plates which can 
limit efficiency of residential 
programs

Larger buildings which result 
in unit counts difficult for the 
market to absorb

“Sticky” office tenants which 
can result in higher acquisition 
and lease buy-out costs

Newer building stock which 
cannot access historic tax 
credit funds

80



Context

81



Page 7DRA Discussion October 2023 

• Vacancy rate of 24%*, third highest among 35 
largest downtowns in America, up from 9% in 2014

• Availability rate of 30%*, meaning space that is not 
yet vacant but nearing lease expiration without 
renewal

• Risk that downtown property tax revenue will not just 
stagnate but significantly decrease as office 
assessed values “catch up” to declining market 
values

• Two illustrations: Since 2014, the tax assessed 
value for 1021 Main has decreased from 
$115M to $52M (↓ 55%)

• 1415 Louisiana has decreased from $65M to 
$46M (↓ 29%). 

53.0 million
Rentable SF

Sources: CoStar, AECOM

Downtown Houston

50%+ Vacancy

25% Vacancy

0% Vacancy

Commercial office fundamentals in Downtown 
Houston are troubling and mirror challenges in 
other cities

Square 
Feet (SF)

1.2M

*Vacancy and availability figures include direct and sublet space

169
Office Buildings

82



Page 8DRA Discussion October 2023 

Some cities are publicly exploring or have implemented programs to incentivize office-to-
residential conversion, while Houston has opportunity to lead Southeast U.S. peers

Location
Program 

Status

Types of Incentives
Total Funding 

AllocatedProperty Tax 
Abatement

Grants
Soft Financing 

or Bonds

Calgary Active $37-75 per SF $153 million

Chicago Active 30%, 30 years Variable Bonds

Boston Active 75%, 29 years

State of California Active Variable Soft Financing $400 million

Philadelphia Active 50%, 10 years

District of Columbia Active
Variable, 20 

years
$50 million

Pittsburgh Active Up to $1-3M

Portland Active Up to $3M

Denver Pending TBD TBD TBD TBD

San Francisco Pending TBD TBD TBD TBD

Los Angeles Pending TBD TBD TBD TBD

New York Pending TBD TBD TBD TBD

Houston Being Studied TBD TBD TBD TBD

Atlanta Being Studied TBD TBD TBD TBD

Phoenix No specific office conversion funding incentive

Dallas No specific office conversion funding incentive

Austin No specific office conversion funding incentive

Regulation Relaxation

• Expedited permitting, streamlined approvals, 
increased allowable density, exemption from 
zoning restrictions and code requirements, etc.

• Less applicable for Houston due to less 
burdensome regulatory environment

Technical Assistance & Solicitation

• Invitations for proposals, “concierge” services, 
technical assistance for developers, feasibility 
studies, building prioritization

• Potential to provide similar technical support to 
reduce risk and accelerate timelines

Leveraging Existing Funding Incentives

• State & Federal Historic Credits, Low-Income 
Housing Tax Credits, specific state/local incentives

• Other funding sources unlikely to be widely 
available given Houston building characteristics

Creating New Funding Incentives

• Property tax abatement, grants, tax exempt 
bonds/soft financing

• Tax incentives likely necessary due to expected 
funding gap with most typical office buildings

National Survey of Office Conversion Incentives

83



Page 9DRA Discussion October 2023 

Downtown Houston office buildings are generally younger, however an increasing number are 
becoming eligible for historic designation

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

4,000,000

Downtown Houston Office Space by Year Built

39% of office 
SF is 50+ years 

old today

53% will be 
50+ years 

old by 2030

T
o

ta
l S

q
u

a
re

 F
e

e
t

81% will be 
50+ years 

old by 2036

Historic Eligibility

•If designated historic or contributing to a 
historic district, could access to federal 
(20%) and state (25%) funds for eligible 
expenses

•However, eligibility does not mean historic 
significance, and designation is a multi-year 
process that includes multiple stakeholders

76% of office stock was built after 1970, 11th lowest among 35 largest downtowns in America

84



Page 10DRA Discussion October 2023 

Feasibility of residential conversion is driven by floor plate geometry and the ability to capture 
sufficient rentable area from gross square footage

Residential Floor PlateOffice Floor Plate

85



Page 11DRA Discussion October 2023 

Rentable SF = Usable SF + Common Area Factor* 

*Lobbies, hallways, communal restrooms, gyms, etc.

Rentable Area = Smaller Usable SF*

*Greater capture with floor plate allowing light and air access

Residential Floor PlateOffice Floor Plate

Feasibility of residential conversion is driven by floor plate geometry and the ability to capture 
sufficient rentable area from gross square footage

Revenue capture

86



Page 12DRA Discussion October 2023 

Class A Commercial Office use has typically been “highest and best use” in Downtown Houston 
due to higher rent per SF, assuming full occupancy and limited concessions

• Given limited land use restrictions, acquisition values in Houston 
are based upon office as highest and best use

• Office also allows owners to capture revenue from higher 
portion of the building’s square footage

• Office Class A rent is $49.54 per SF per year

• Apartment Class A rent is $29.76 per SF per year

• As evidence of this calculus, recent office reinvestments include:

• Houston Center: $300M renovation by Brookfield Properties

• Memorial City Plazas: $25M by MetroNational

• However, office investors are all competing for top of the market:

• Rental rates for Class A residential start to exceed Class B and 
Class C office on a per SF basis

• Fully occupied Class A residential can also be expected to 
outperform partially occupied Class A office in revenue

$49.54

$25.90

$29.76

$44.59

$23.31
$20.83

$0

$5

$10

$15

$20

$25

$30

$35

$40

$45

$50

$55

$60

1 2 3

Downtown Houston Average Rent per Square Foot

Series1 Series2

$5 efficiency loss

$9 efficiency loss

Rent per NSF Rent per GSF

87



Page 13DRA Discussion October 2023 

Aside from age and building layout, several other factors that may limit investor risk-taking for 
downtown residential conversions

Large Building Size
81% of total office stock is in buildings larger than 500,000 square feet, leading to concerns with market’s ability to
absorb a full complement of residential units if fully converted.

Sticky Tenants
While many office buildings have seen drops in occupancy, only 16 of 169 office buildings are greater than 50% vacant,
which may result in a high cost to buy out remaining tenants for redevelopment

Low Residential Baseline
Despite recent growth with new multifamily product, downtown Houston’s population density is 10th lowest among 35
largest downtowns in America, which may impact prospective investors and resident interest

Urban Living Competition
Downtown Houston is competing with other established submarkets nearby for residents seeking urban living,
including Midtown, Uptown, Greenway, Montrose, and Buffalo Bayou. Ground-up multifamily development in these areas
has similar construction costs to conversion

Additional Downton Houston Characteristics Impacting Feasibility

88



Page 14DRA Discussion October 2023 

Despite challenging office-to-residential economics, Downtown Houston has a compelling story 
for prospective investors and residents

Organizational Framework

DRA, CHI are already in place and 

have tools available – DLI generated 

over 5,000 new units since 2012

Regional Population Momentum

Houston Metro Area’s population 

grew by 20% between 2010 and 

2020, the highest of any major 

metropolitan area

Visitor Rebound

Tourist visitation has recovered to 

85% of pre-pandemic levels, 14th

highest of 35 largest downtowns in 

America

Return to Office

Office worker visitation has 

recovered to 60% of pre-pandemic 

levels, 15th highest of 35 largest 

downtowns in America

Market Familiarity with Product

13th highest of 35 largest metro 

areas in America in terms of share of 

housing in 50+ unit structures

Multifamily Performance 

Multifamily sector has stable 

occupancy, appealing rental rates, 

and high absorption rates attractive 

to investors.

Class B and C Performance

Class C office rent of $ 25.90 per SF 

per year is below Class A apartment 

rent of $29.76 per SF per year

Nearing NRHP Eligibility

39% of buildings are 50+ years old 

today, but 81% will be by 2036, which 

may open historic financing

89



Methodology

90



Page 16DRA Discussion October 2023 

Small building

Small floorplates

Fully vacant

Large building

Large irregular floorplates

Partially occupied

Large building

Large uniform floorplates

Partially occupied

AECOM and DRA staff selected three representative buildings from scoring exercise to evaluate 
residential test fit and financial feasibility

• Selections from office-to-residential conversion 
scoring tool presented in June

• Representative of Houston’s downtown office 
stock based on several factors:

• Building size: small ↔medium ↔ large

• Lease span: shallow ↔medium ↔ deep

• Floorplates: uniform ↔ unique 

• Historic status: registered ↔ eligible ↔ not eligible

• Parking: none ↔ adjacent ↔ on-site

• Vacancy: high ↔moderate ↔ low

• AECOM architects conducted residential test fits of 
selected buildings based on available office floor 
plans and stacking

1 2 3

708 Main

“The Houston Shoebox”

1415 Louisiana

“The Typical Atypical”

1021 Main

“What’s Old is New Again”

91



Page 17DRA Discussion October 2023 

Several factors have the greatest impact on the financial feasibility of office-to-residential 
conversions, as identified during financial modeling

Building Efficiency Construction Costs Acquisition Costs Current Tenants

• Residential floor plates are 

possible in each building, but 

more efficient in smaller 

buildings

• Larger and more complicated 

floor plates lead to high load 

factor (i.e. non-rentable SF), 

which reduces financial 

performance

• These floor plates can also 

result in larger average unit 

size compared to typical new 

construction

• Concern over market’s 

ability to absorb unit size

(i.e. achieving projected PSF 

vs. per unit rents) as well as 

number of units for high-

rise buildings

• Conversion/renovation 

costs are similar to 

ground-up development; 

both approximately $200-250 

PSF in hard costs

• More detailed cost 

estimates are required for 

each project to firmly assess 

feasibility

• Basis from building 

acquisition is the largest 

contributor to funding gap

• Sale price is expected to be 

far below historic averages, 

at $50-70 PSF based on 

comparable projects 

• While buildings that do not 

change ownership would 

reduce funding gap, current 

owners may not have 

capability for residential 

conversion which requires 

equity interest/partnership

• Owners would also need to 

buy out remaining office 

leases

• Expected to be difference in 

market rent plus move and 

fit-out costs

92



Page 18DRA Discussion October 2023 

Several factors have the greatest impact on the financial feasibility of office-to-residential 
conversions, as identified during financial modeling

Building Efficiency Construction Costs Acquisition Costs Current Tenants

• Residential floor plates are 

possible in each building, but 

more efficient in smaller 

buildings

• Larger and more complicated 

floor plates lead to high load 

factor (i.e. non-rentable SF), 

which reduces financial 

performance

• These floor plates can also 

result in larger average unit 

size compared to typical new 

construction

• Concern over market’s 

ability to absorb unit size

(i.e. achieving projected PSF 

vs. per unit rents) as well as 

number of units for high-

rise buildings

• Conversion/renovation 

costs are similar to 

ground-up development; 

both approximately $200-250 

PSF in hard costs

• More detailed cost 

estimates are required for 

each project to firmly assess 

feasibility

• Basis from building 

acquisition is the largest 

contributor to funding gap

• Sale price is expected to be 

far below historic averages, 

at $50-70 PSF based on 

comparable projects 

• While buildings that do not 

change ownership would 

reduce funding gap, current 

owners may not have 

capability for residential 

conversion which requires 

equity interest/partnership

• Owners would also need to 

buy out remaining office 

leases

• Expected to be difference in 

market rent plus move and 

fit-out costs

93



Page 19DRA Discussion October 2023 

Several factors have the greatest impact on the financial feasibility of office-to-residential 
conversions, as identified during financial modeling

Building Efficiency Construction Costs Acquisition Costs Current Tenants

• Residential floor plates are 

possible in each building, but 

more efficient in smaller 

buildings

• Larger and more complicated 

floor plates lead to high load 

factor (i.e. non-rentable SF), 

which reduces financial 

performance

• These floor plates can also 

result in larger average unit 

size compared to typical new 

construction

• Concern over market’s 

ability to absorb unit size

(i.e. achieving projected PSF 

vs. per unit rents) as well as 

number of units for high-

rise buildings

• Conversion/renovation 

costs are similar to

ground-up development; 

both approximately $200-250 

PSF in hard costs

• More detailed cost 

estimates are required for 

each project to firmly assess 

feasibility

• Basis from building 

acquisition is the largest 

contributor to funding gap

• Sale price is expected to be 

far below historic averages, 

at $50-70 PSF based on 

comparable projects 

• While buildings that do not 

change ownership would 

reduce funding gap, current 

owners may not have 

capability for residential 

conversion which requires 

equity interest/partnership

• Owners would also need to 

buy out remaining office 

leases

• Expected to be difference in 

market rent plus move and 

fit-out costs

94



Page 20DRA Discussion October 2023 

Several factors have the greatest impact on the financial feasibility of office-to-residential 
conversions, as identified during financial modeling

Building Efficiency Construction Costs Acquisition Costs Current Tenants

• Residential floor plates are 

possible in each building, but 

more efficient in smaller 

buildings

• Larger and more complicated 

floor plates lead to high load 

factor (i.e. non-rentable SF), 

which reduces financial 

performance

• These floor plates can also 

result in larger average unit 

size compared to typical new 

construction

• Concern over market’s 

ability to absorb unit size

(i.e. achieving projected PSF 

vs. per unit rents) as well as 

number of units for high-

rise buildings

• Conversion/renovation 

costs are similar to

ground-up development; 

both approximately $200-250 

PSF in hard costs

• More detailed cost 

estimates are required for 

each project to firmly assess 

feasibility

• Basis from building 

acquisition is the largest 

contributor to funding gap

• Sale price is expected to be 

far below historic averages, 

at $50-70 PSF based on 

comparable projects 

• While buildings that do not 

change ownership would 

reduce funding gap, current 

owners may not have 

capability for residential 

conversion which requires 

equity interest/partnership

• Owners would also need to 

buy out remaining office 

leases

• Expected to be difference in 

market rent plus move and 

fit-out costs

95



Building Concepts

96



Page 22DRA Discussion October 2023 

Concept 1: 708 Main Street – “The Houston Shoebox”
Overview

Distinguishing Factors

• Smaller size based on height and lease span; limited floor plate complications

• Full office vacancy/availability at time of study

• Older building that is eligible for NRHP listing but not submitted

Residential 59,417 SF 95%

Office 0 SF 0%

Retail 2,803 SF 5%

Total RBA 62,220 SF 100%

Program

Conversion ConceptExisting Building

1

Amenities

Residential

Retail & Lobby

708 Main

Houston ISD Part.

Harris County Part.

Downtown TIRZ

Location

97



Page 23DRA Discussion October 2023 

Concept 1: 708 Main Street – “The Houston Shoebox”
Test Fit

1

Typical Floor Plan

Unit Count % Total Average SF

Studio 22 units 41% 764 SF

1-Bedroom 23 units 43% 987 SF

2-Bedroom 9 units 17% 1,475 SF

3-Bedroom 0 units 0% N/A

Total Units 54 units 100% 977 SF

Building-Level Unit Mix

54 96,960
Residential Units GSF

977 64%
Avg. Unit Size Building Efficiency

Building Efficiency

98



Page 24DRA Discussion October 2023 

Feasibility Test

Feasible No funding gap

Potentially Funding gap is less than 10% of total development costs

Not Feasible Funding gap is greater than 10% of total development costs

Incentive Scenarios

No Incentives Baseline private sector feasibility with no public support or tax incentives

Basic Tax Reimbursement Incentive structure that reimburses 75% of tax increment for 15 years

Basic Tax Reimbursement plus 
Historic Tax Credits

If building were to achieve state and federal tax credit eligibility
(Note: No concept buildings are currently historically designated or contributing)

Enhanced Tax Reimbursement Incentive structure that reimburses 100% of tax increment for 30 years with County participation

Model identifies funding gap based on estimated total development cost (TDC) and maximum debt and equity that could be raised based 
on property performance, with following thresholds and scenarios:

AECOM economists developed real estate pro formas based on residential or mixed-use 
program provided by architects

Occupancy Scenarios

Vacant Building Assuming investor redevelops vacant building

Existing Lease Buyout Assuming investor redevelops with current rent roll and subsequent lease buyout costs

99



Page 25DRA Discussion October 2023 

$0

$5

$10

$15

$20

$25

$30

$35

M
ill

io
n

s

Financial Results

• 708 Main is FEASIBLE under enhanced tax reimbursement (100% of tax increment for 30 years with County involvement)

• 708 Main is POTENTIALLY FEASIBLE under status quo, and particularly if it were to access historic tax credits in the future

• Building is currently fully vacant besides retail tenants

Concept 1: 708 Main Street – “The Houston Shoebox”
Financial Summary

1

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout

No Incentives Potentially Potentially

Basic Tax Reimbursement Potentially Potentially

Basic plus Historic Tax Credits Feasible Feasible

Enhanced Tax Reimbursement Feasible Feasible

Feasibility by Scenario

Factors • Min. decrease in building 
efficiency

• Low acquisition cost
• Fully vacant
• Lower construction 

complexity Sources

Gap
$7.1M

Private Debt
$15.9M

Developer Equity
$9.9M

Project 
Cost

$32.9M

Capital Stack*

* Status Quo scenario (no public support) with acquisition and 
lease buyout costs

100



Page 26DRA Discussion October 2023 

Concept 2: 1415 Louisiana Street – “The Typical Atypical”
Overview

Distinguishing Factors

• Larger tower with large varying floor plates 

• Partial vacancy but still revenue-producing at time of study, at 56% occupied

• Not eligible for historic listing

Residential 262,124SF 70%

Office 44,025 SF 12%

Retail
Parking

7,396 SF
59,562 SF

2%
16%

Total RBA 373,107 SF 100%

Program

Conversion ConceptExisting Building

2

1415 Louisiana

Houston ISD Part.

Harris County Part.

Downtown TIRZ

Location

Amenities

Residential

Lobby & Retail

Office

Restaurant

Parking

101



Page 27DRA Discussion October 2023 

Concept 2: 1415 Louisiana Street  – “The Typical Atypical”
Test Fit

Typical Floor Plans
2

Unit Count % Total Average SF

Studio 34 units 18% 812 SF

1-Bedroom 102 units 55% 1,066 SF

2-Bedroom 42 units 23% 1,818 SF

3-Bedroom 8 units 4% 2,241 SF

Total Units 186 units 100% 1,240 SF

Building-Level Unit Mix

Building Efficiency

186 626,322
Residential Units GSF

1,240 60%
Avg. Unit Size Building Efficiency

102



Page 28DRA Discussion October 2023 

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

M
ill

io
n

s

Concept 2: 1415 Louisiana Street  – “The Typical Atypical”
Financial Summary

2

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout

No Incentives Not Feasible Not Feasible

Basic Tax Reimbursement Not Feasible Not Feasible

Enhanced Tax Reimbursement Potentially Not Feasible

Feasibility by Scenario

Factors • Poor layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Partially occupied

Financial Results

• 1415 Louisiana is POTENTIALLY FEASIBLE after enhanced tax reimbursement (100% for 30 years with County involvement) if fully vacant

• 1415 Louisiana is NOT FEASIBLE under all other scenarios; not historically eligible, so not evaluated for historic tax credits

Sources

Gap

$64.2M

Private Debt

$92.3M

Developer Equity

$67.4M

Total 
Project 

Cost
$223.9M

Capital Stack*

* Status Quo scenario (no public support) with acquisition and 
lease buyout costs

103



Page 29DRA Discussion October 2023 

Concept 3: 1021 Main Street – “What’s Old is New Again”
Overview

Distinguishing Factors

• Larger tower with relatively consistent floor plates 

• Mostly but not fully vacant, at 36% occupancy

• Older building that is eligible for NRHP listing but not submitted

Residential 407,877 SF 94%

Office 0 SF 0%

Retail 25,528 SF 6%

Total RBA 433,405 SF 100%

Program

Conversion ConceptExisting Building

2

1021 Main

Houston ISD Part.

Harris County Part.

Downtown TIRZ

Location

/Retail

104



Page 30DRA Discussion October 2023 

Typical Floor Plan

Concept 3: 1021 Main Street – “What’s Old is New Again” 
Test Fit

3

Unit Count % Total Avg SF

Studio 51 units 16% 747 SF

1-Bedroom 149 units 48% 998 SF

2-Bedroom 54 units 17% 1,472 SF

3-Bedroom 56 units 18% 1,799 SF

Total Units 310 units 100% 1,184 SF

Building-Level Unit Mix

Building Efficiency

310 688,544
Residential Units GSF

1,184 63%
Avg. Unit Size Building Efficiency

105



Page 31DRA Discussion October 2023 

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

$300

M
ill

io
n

s

Concept 3: 1021 Main Street – “What’s Old is New Again” 
Financial Summary

3

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout

No Incentives Not Feasible Not Feasible

Basic Tax Reimbursement Potentially Not Feasible

Basic plus Historic Tax Credits Feasible Feasible

Enhanced Tax Reimbursement Feasible Feasible

Feasibility by Scenario

Factors • Poor layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Mostly vacant

Financial Results

• 1021 Main is FEASIBLE enhanced tax reimbursement (100% of tax increment for 30 years plus County involvement)

• 1021 Main is POTENTIALLY FEASIBLE under basic tax reimbursement (75% of tax increment for 15 years)

• 1021 Main is NOT FEASIBLE under status quo or current occupancy with basic tax reimbursement

Sources

Gap
$51.2M

Private Debt
$134.3M

Developer Equity
$79.6M

Total 
Project 

Cost
$265.1M

Capital Stack*

* Status Quo scenario (no public support) with acquisition and 
lease buyout costs

106



Feasibility Summary

107



Page 33DRA Discussion October 2023 

Most selected building types are infeasible under status quo, besides 708 Main which is 
potentially feasible given small size and efficient floor plates

Factors • Good layout efficiency
• Low acquisition cost
• Fully vacant
• Lower construction complexity

• Poor layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Partially occupied

• Moderate layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Mostly vacant

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout

No Incentives Potentially Potentially Not Feasible Not Feasible Not Feasible Not Feasible

708 Main

“The Houston Shoebox”

1415 Louisiana

“The Typical Atypical”

1021 Main

“What’s Old is New Again”

1 2 3

Baseline private sector feasibility with no public support or tax incentives

108



Page 34DRA Discussion October 2023 

With 75% of increment for 15 years, 708 Main and 1021 Main are potentially feasible, but only 
if fully vacant and dependent on final construction cost estimates

Factors • Good layout efficiency
• Low acquisition cost
• Fully vacant
• Lower construction complexity

• Poor layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Partially occupied

• Moderate layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Mostly vacant

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout

708 Main

“The Houston Shoebox”

1415 Louisiana

“The Typical Atypical”

1021 Main

“What’s Old is New Again”

1 2 3

Default incentive structure that reimburses 75% of tax increment for 15 years based on 2023 baseline

Basic Tax Reimbursement Potentially Potentially Not Feasible Not Feasible Potentially Not Feasible

109



Page 35DRA Discussion October 2023 

Why Basic Tax Reimbursement structure is insufficient for most existing office buildings to 
convert to residential

• Downtown Living Initiative, which focused on new 
multifamily construction, provided reimbursement for the 
lesser of $15,000 per unit or 75% of the tax increment 
for 15 years based upon assessed value the year the 
building was incorporated into the Downtown TIRZ

• When compared in present value terms, an annualized 
reimbursement based on  this tax incentive covers a small 
portion of total development costs (see below), which is 
not enough to cover funding gap

• Requires longer timeframe, larger reimbursement 
percentage, and/or participation from other taxing entities

• However, historically eligible buildings would be feasible 
under a basic reimbursement scenario

Impact of 75% of incremental over 15 years

708 Main 1415 Louisiana 1021 Main

Annual Reimbursement (Average) $54,000 $186,000 $310,000

Up-Front Value (NPV) $608,000 $2,400,000 $4,000,000

Total Development Costs $32.9 M $223.9M $265.1M

% of Total Development Costs 1.9% 1.1% 1.6%

Impact of Basic Tax Reimbursement based on DLI

110



Page 36DRA Discussion October 2023 

While no selected buildings are currently historically eligible, analysis shows that funding gap 
would be dramatically reduced with access to historic tax credits and basic reimbursement

Factors • Good layout efficiency
• Low acquisition cost
• Fully vacant
• Lower construction complexity

• Poor layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Partially occupied

• Moderate layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Mostly vacant

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout

708 Main

“The Houston Shoebox”

1415 Louisiana

“The Typical Atypical”

1021 Main

“What’s Old is New Again”

1 2 3

If building were to receive state (25%) and federal (20%) historic tax credits; no buildings are currently listed or contributing

Basic Plus Historic Tax Credits Feasible Feasible N/A N/A Feasible Feasible

111



Page 37DRA Discussion October 2023 

With 100% of increment for 30 years, plus County involvement, 708 Main and 1021 Main are 
fully feasible, and 1415 Louisiana is potentially feasible if fully vacant

Factors • Good layout efficiency
• Low acquisition cost
• Fully vacant
• Lower construction complexity

• Poor layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Partially occupied

• Moderate layout efficiency
• High acquisition cost
• Mostly vacant

Scenario Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout Vacant Building Lease Buyout

708 Main

“The Houston Shoebox”

1415 Louisiana

“The Typical Atypical”

1021 Main

“What’s Old is New Again”

1 2 3

Recommended incentive structure that reimburses 100% of tax increment for 30 years based on 2023 baseline with County participation

Enhanced Tax Reimbursement Feasible Feasible Potentially Not Feasible Feasible Feasible

112



Recommendations

113



Page 39DRA Discussion October 2023 

Recommend that DRA advocate for office-to-residential program that builds upon prior ground-
up residential program by reimbursing 100% of tax increment for 30 years

Basic Tax Abatement Enhanced Tax Abatement
Frequency of Reimbursement Annual Annual
Percentage of Tax Increment 75% 100%
Number of Years 15 years 30 years
Assessed Value Baseline 2023 2023
Per Unit Cap $15,000 No Limit
Participating Entities City of Houston (Downtown 

Redevelopment Authority), Houston 
Downtown Management District

City of Houston (DRA), Houston 
Downtown Management District, Harris 

County, Harris County Flood Control 
District, Harris County Hospital District

By increasing the percentage, timeframe, and participating entities of the tax reimbursement program, the City can better facilitate the 
economics for converting all but the most challenging existing office buildings to residential.

Several opportunities to increase incentive program effectiveness and potentially reduce reimbursement term or percentage:

(1) Enlist additional taxing 
entities 

(2) Enlist additional TIRZs (3) Capture increment from 
adjacent properties

114



Page 40DRA Discussion October 2023 

For each considered scenario, DRA budgets would need to account for the following; 
differences due to longer timeframe, higher %, and additional taxing entity involvement

Scenario

Basic Tax 
Reimbursement

(15 yrs, 75%,
City/HDMD, $15K cap)

Enhanced Tax 
Reimbursement
(30 yrs, 100%, City/ 

HDMD/County, No cap)

Applicable Property Taxes $265,000

Projected Tax Reimbursement * $57,000 $136,000

City/DRA $46,000 $61,000

Combined County Entities $0 $60,000

HDMD Assessment $11,000 $15,000

Scenario

Basic Tax 
Reimbursement

(15 yrs, 75%,
City/HDMD, $15K cap)

Enhanced Tax 
Reimbursement
(30 yrs, 100%, City/ 

HDMD/County, No cap)

Aggregated Total Property Taxes $8,300,000 $21,800,000

Projected Tax Reimbursement * $800,000 $7,700,000

City/DRA $700,000 $3,400,000

Combined County Entities $0 $3,400,000

HDMD Assessment $200,000 $800,000

Basic Tax 
Reimbursement

(15 yrs, 75%,
City/HDMD, $15K cap)

Enhanced Tax 
Reimbursement
(30 yrs, 100%, City/ 

HDMD/County, No cap)

$1,200,000

$260,000 $624,000

$210,000 $280,000

$0 $277,000

$50,000 $67,000

Basic Tax 
Reimbursement

(15 yrs, 75%,
City/HDMD, $15K cap)

Enhanced Tax 
Reimbursement
(30 yrs, 100%, City/ 

HDMD/County, No cap)

$44,900,000 $122,600,000

$2,800,000 $38,900,000

$2,300,000 $17,400,000

$0 $17,200,000

$500,000 $4,200,000

Basic Tax 
Reimbursement

(15 yrs, 75%,
City/HDMD, $15K cap)

Enhanced Tax 
Reimbursement
(30 yrs, 100%, City/ 

HDMD/County, No cap)

$2,700,000

$571,000 $1,368,000

$461,000 $614,000

$0 $607,000

$110,000 $147,000

Basic Tax 
Reimbursement

(15 yrs, 75%,
City/HDMD, $15K cap)

Enhanced Tax 
Reimbursement
(30 yrs, 100%, City/ 

HDMD/County, No cap)

$74,600,000 $196,700,000

$4,700,000 $74,400,000

$3,800,000 $33,400,000

$0 $33,000,000

$900,000 $8,000,000

708 Main 1415 Louisiana 1021 Main

Annual Tax Reimbursement at Stabilization (In 2028)

Long-Term Tax Reimbursement (Length of Program)

* Illustrative calculations only; more detailed budget study required for final incentive program

115



Page 41DRA Discussion October 2023 

(1) Enlist additional taxing entities: Seek Harris County and Houston ISD participation to reduce 
their own exposure to tax revenue losses and improve project feasibility

Entity Jurisdictions 2022 Rate* % Total

City
CITY OF HOUSTON
(C/O DOWNTOWN REDEV AUTH)

$0.5336 22.9%

County HARRIS COUNTY $0.3437 14.8%
HARRIS CO FLOOD CNTRL $0.0306 1.3%
HARRIS CO HOSP DIST $0.1483 6.4%
HARRIS CO EDUC DEPT $0.0049 0.2%

Local Agencies HOUSTON ISD $1.0372 44.5%
PORT OF HOUSTON AUTHY $0.0080 0.3%
HOU COMMUNITY COLLEGE $0.0956 4.1%

District HOUSTON D'TOWN MGMT D $0.1275 5.5%

Total $2.3294 100.0%

29%
DRA and HDMD

51%*
DRA and County

95%
DRA, County, and 

ISD

*Modeled scenario

• If can secure County and ISD involvement, potential to capture up 95% of total increment and lessen the percentage reimbursement 
and/or timeframe of the office-to-residential TIRZ program

• If the other unit(s) agree to participate, need to execute an Interlocal Agreement that stipulates several conditions/limitations

• Houston Independent School District and Harris County (including Flood, Port, and Hospital, but not Education) both participate in the 
Downtown TIRZ already

• County and ISD agreements both stipulate contribution caps; Harris County contribution is capped at $17 million in total and Houston 
ISD is capped at $410,000 per year; County and ISD have also declined to participate in annexed areas as Downtown TIRZ expanded 

Property Tax Contribution by Jurisdiction

Basic Tax Scenario Enhanced Tax Scenario
Full Participation
(81% of Contribution)

Full Participation
(45% of Contribution)

No Participation
(0% of Contribution)

Full Participation
(44% of Contribution)

No Participation
(0% of Contribution)

No Participation
(0% of Contribution)

Full Participation
(19% of Contribution)

Full Participation
(11% of Contribution)

100% 100%

* $ per $100

116



Page 42DRA Discussion October 2023 

(2) Enlist additional TIRZs: Seek agreement with adjacent TIRZ districts to expand catchment 
area for office-to-residential program and increase increment base

Greater Houston 
TIRZ

Fourth Ward 
TIRZ

Downtown TIRZ

Potential
“Super TIRZ”

117



Page 43DRA Discussion October 2023 

(3) Capture adjacent increment: Study the potential to capture increment generated to include 
other properties within a certain distance of the subject property

• Potential to define tax increment generated to include the conversion property and nearby properties, similar to peer cities like Chicago

• Increases tax increment base due to net benefits from program

• Greatest tax benefit seen by “first movers” who carry out office-to-residential conversion

Downtown Living Initiative 
Tax Incentive

Potential Office Conversion 
Tax Incentive

Incentivized Project Building

Adjacent Buildings

Parcels Generating Full Tax Increment Incentive

Parcels Generating Partial Tax Increment Incentive

Parcels Not Generating Tax Increment Incentive

Legend

118



Page 44DRA Discussion October 2023 

Additional Measures: City can further facilitate office-to-residential completions by targeting 
specific building types  and providing technical assistance

Project Selection Criteria

Areas of focus for future project solicitation:

• Prioritize projects with chronic, high availability of at least 
75% in the portion of the building being converted to 
reduce lease buyout cost

• Prioritize projects with no change in ownership 
(owner/developer) and residential capability to reduce 
acquisition costs

• Prioritize projects with potential historic tax credit 
eligibility

Technical Assistance Program

Ways to reduce entitlement risk and provide expertise:

• Create dedicated FTE from within City to serve as office-to-
residential liaison for prospective projects

• Streamline permitting process by accelerating permit 
timelines for office-to-residential conversions

• Increase potential access to historic tax credits by 
facilitating historic nomination process and coordinating 
with State Historic Preservation Officer; potential 
additional FTE

• Potential to offset acquisition costs for buildings with 
prohibitive lease buyouts with additional up-front incentive 
program

City can take additional measures to decrease the amount of funding requested for projects seeking public support:

119



Next Steps

120



Page 46DRA Discussion October 2023 

To move from study to implementation, DRA will need to bring other public entities into the 
conversation and finalize program details  

With this completed analysis and set of recommendations, the DRA board can move the following tasks forward: 

Public Entity Coordination Private Entity Coordination Additional Study

• Taxing Entity Participation: Engage 

City, County, and ISD in potential 

program participation and discuss any 

additional requirements.

• TIRZ Participation: Engage other 

TIRZs in potential shared program and 

discuss governance structure.

• Finalize Incentive Structure: Once 

governance structure is established, 

finalize program terms (percentage, 

years) with additional fiscal impact 

testing.

• Detailed Cost Estimate: Identify 
“prototype project” partner to 
evaluate funding gap with detailed 
cost estimate.

• Market Sounding: Once program 
details are finalized, meet with 
stakeholders to confirm feasibility 
and collect feedback on terms.

• Formal Solicitation: Once program 
details are finalized, begin to draft 
application requirements for 
prospective projects, including 
thresholds for participation. 

• Affordable Housing: Based on 
feedback from other public entities, 
evaluate impact of affordability 
requirements and 4% or 9% LIHTC 
tax credits on funding gap.

• Complementary Programs: To 
address challenge of persistent low 
vacancy (i.e. remaining tenants), 
explore upfront funds towards 
acquisition costs for prospective 
investors considering purchasing an 
occupied office building for 
residential conversion.

Next Steps

121



Page 47DRA Discussion October 2023 

General Limiting Conditions
Deliverables and portions thereof shall be subject to the following General Limiting Conditions:

AECOM devoted the level of effort consistent with (i) the level of diligence ordinarily exercised by competent professionals practicing in the area under the same or similar circumstances, and (ii)
consistent with the time and budget available for the Services to develop the Deliverables. The Deliverables are based on estimates, assumptions, information developed by AECOM from its
independent research effort, general knowledge of the industry, and information provided by and consultations with Client and Client's representatives. No responsibility is assumed for inaccuracies
in data provided by the Client, the Client's representatives, or any third-party data source used in preparing or presenting the Deliverables. AECOM assumes no duty to update the information
contained in the Deliverables unless such additional services are separately retained pursuant to a written agreement signed by AECOM and Client.

AECOM’s findings represent its professional judgment. Neither AECOM nor its parent corporations, nor their respective affiliates or subsidiaries (“AECOM Entities”) make any warranty or guarantee,
expressed or implied, with respect to any information or methods contained in or used to produce the Deliverables.

The Deliverables shall not to be used in conjunction with any public or private offering of securities, debt, equity, or other similar purpose where it may be relied upon to any degree by any person
other than the Client. The Deliverables shall not be used for purposes other than those for which they were prepared or for which prior written consent has been obtained from AECOM.

Possession of the Deliverables does not carry with it any right of publication or the right to use the name of "AECOM" in any manner without the prior express written consent of AECOM. No party
may reference AECOM with regard to any abstract, excerpt or summarization of the Deliverables without the prior written consent of AECOM. AECOM has served solely in the capacity of consultant
and has not rendered any expert opinions in connection with the subject matter hereof. Any changes made to the Deliverables, or any use of the Deliverables not specifically identified in the
Agreement between the Client and AECOM or otherwise expressly approved in writing by AECOM, shall be at the sole risk of the party making such changes or use.

The Deliverables were prepared solely for the use by the Client. No third party may rely on the Deliverables unless expressly authorized by AECOM in writing (including, without limitation, in the form
of a formal reliance letter. Any third party expressly authorized by AECOM in writing to rely on the Deliverables may do so only on the Deliverable in its entirety and not on any abstract, excerpt or
summary. Entitlement to rely upon the Deliverables is conditioned upon the entitled party accepting full responsibility for such use, strict compliance with this Agreement and not holding
AECOM liable in any way for any impacts on the forecasts or the earnings resulting from changes in "external" factors such as changes in government policy, in the pricing of commodities and
materials, changes in market conditions, price levels generally, competitive alternatives to the project, the behavior of consumers or competitors and changes in the Client’s policies affecting the
operation of their projects.

The Deliverables may include “forward-looking statements”. These statements relate to AECOM’s expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. These statements may be
identified by the use of words like “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “will,” “should,” “seek,” and similar expressions. The forward-looking statements reflect
AECOM’s views and assumptions with respect to future events as of the date of the Deliverables and are subject to future economic conditions, and other risks and uncertainties. Actual and future
results and trends could differ materially from those set forth in such statements due to various factors, including, without limitation, those discussed in the Deliverables. These factors are beyond
AECOM’s ability to control or predict. Accordingly, AECOM makes no warranty or representation that any of the projected values or results contained in the Deliverables will actually occur or be
achieved. The Deliverables are qualified in their entirety by, and should be considered in light of, these limitations, conditions and considerations.

122



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

123



 

124



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

125



 

 

126



127



128


	Minutes - DRA 9/12/23
	Minutes - TIRZ 9/12/23
	Financial Summary - Sept. 2023
	Check Register - Sept. 2023
	Financial Statements - 1Q24
	Investment Report - 1Q24
	FY23 Audit
	Action Item
	Draft Required Communications
	Draft FY23 Audit Report

	AECOM Findings - Adaptive Reuse/Office Conversion Feasibility Study
	Strategic Alignment Updates - October 2023
	Goal 1 - Champion DT
	Goal 2 - Enhance DT
	Goal 3 - Connect DT
	Goal 4 - Thrive DT
	Goal 5 - Engage DT


	0b. 231010 TOC.pdf
	TABLE OF CONTENTS




